



"Peace with Legality": The discursive exit route from the implementation of the Peace Agreement Between Farc-EP and the Colombian State

Álvaro Fabián Carreño Ordóñez

Lund University Sociology of Law Department

Master Thesis (SOLM02) Spring 2020



Supervisors: Amin Parsa Nicolás Serrano

Examiner: Peter Scharff Smith

Abstract

The Peace Agreement between Farc-EP and Juan Manuel Santos is the result of a complex dialogue, not only between the signing parties but also between the victims, the opposition, the international community and the civil society. The agreement entails a narrative that recognizes the armed conflict and proposes a path to end it while bringing peace and reconciliation. The settlement incorporates legal reform, transitional justice mechanisms and some structural changes designed to promote the end of political violence in Colombia.

The opposition to the Peace Agreement, led by Álvaro Uribe Vélez and the "Democratic Center" won the presidential elections in 2018. Iván Duque Márquez was elected president in representation of the sector that promotes an opposed narrative to the agreement. Since the beginning of his presidency, Duque has been using "Peace with Legality" as the discourse to define the government's version of the agreement's implementation.

Using Critical Discourse Analysis and Critical Transitional Justice Studies this research shows how "Peace with Legality" constitutes the discursive way out that Duque's government found to the Peace Agreement's implementation. While moving away from the idea of a post-conflict scenario it twists the implementation of the agreement into a process of stabilization. "Peace with Legality" is a securitized vision, which promotes a notion of legality, that does not recognize the armed conflict, focusing on retributive justice and the deployment of State's violence to promote peace.

Keywords: Transitional justice, Critical Discourse Analysis, Peace Agreement, Colombia, legality, security, armed conflict

"What if some day or night a demon were to steal into your loneliest loneliness and say to you: 'This life as you now live it and have lived it you will have to live once again and innumerable times again; and there will be nothing new in it, but every pain and every joy and every thought and sigh and everything unspeakably small or great in your life must return to you, all in the same succession and sequence - even this spider and this moonlight between the trees, and even this moment and I myself. The eternal hourglass of existence is turned over again and again, and you with it, speck of dust!' Would you not throw yourself down and gnash your teeth and curse the demon who spoke thus?"

> Friedrich Nietzsche, *The Gay Science*. --- The heaviest weight.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Aim and Research Questions	6
1.2. Scope, Importance of the Research and Limitations	7
1.3. Background	8
1.3.1. The Opposition to the Peace Dialogues Table and to the	e Peace
Agreement	8
1.3.2. Incorporation of the Peace Agreement to the Legal System	tem 10
1.3.3. Definition of the Research Problem: Iván Duque's Elec	tion as
President and the Emergence of the "Peace with Legality" Di	scourse
	12
1.3.4. Outline of the Text	15
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	17
2.1. Literature on Transitional Justice and its Relationship with	ı "Law",
"Legality" and the "Rule of Law"	18
2.1.1. Transitional Justice "Mainstream" Literature	
2.1.2. Critical Transitional Justice Studies	22
2.1.3. Law as the Remedy to Violence: A Critical Analysis on	
Transitional Justice in Colombia	25
2.2. Colombian Literature on Transitional Justice, Legality and	Critical
Discourse Analysis	
2.2.1. Transitional Justice Before the Farc-EP Peace Agreem	ent28
2.2.1.1. From Full Amnesties to the Transitional Justice in the	"Peace
and Justice Law"	
2.2.2. The Different Positions During "Habana Dialogues" Be	etween
Juan Manuel Santos Government and the Farc-EP	32
2.2.2.1. The Opposition: "Peace Without Impunity"	
2.2.2.2. The Supporters of an Agreement with Legal Limits	35
2.2.2.3. Supporters of the Agreement Without Legal Limits	
2.4. Gap in the Literature	

2.3. Literature Review Conclusions	40
3. METHODOLOGY	42
3.1. Theoretical framework	43
3.2. Critical Discourse Analysis	44
3.3. How Does Critical Discourse Analysis Understands Discou	rses?45
3.4. CDA Methods	46
3.5. Data	49
3.5.1. Data Validity and Reliability	50
3.5.2. Data Analysis Considerations	52
3.6. Ethical Considerations	
4. RESULTS	54
4.1. The "Peace with Legality" Foundations	54
4.1.1. Antecedents: Juan Manuel Santos Peace Agreement	54
4.1.2. Duque as Candidate: "Peace Without Impunity"	58
4.2. Duque as President: "Peace with Legality" Discourse	60
4.2.1. Legality, Security and Justice	60
4.3. Security	62
4.3.1. Security as in Democratic Security: The Links to our l	Past62
4.3.2. From Armed Conflict to Criminal Activities: Stabiliza	tion
Instead of Post-conflict	65
4.3.3. "Peace with Legality" and Security: Exclusion in the C	Context of
Peacebuilding	69
4.4. From Restorative Justice to Retributive Justice	71
5. DISCUSSION	77
5.1. Denying the Armed Conflict: from a "Post-conflict" Scena	rio to
"Stabilization"	78
5.2. Changing the Justice Paradigm	80
6. CONCLUSIONS	82
7. REFERENCES	

1. INTRODUCTION

After more than 50 years of armed conflict, the Colombian Government, led by President Juan Manuel Santos [2010-2018], signed a peace agreement with the Marxist-Leninist guerrilla "Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia – Ejército del Pueblo" [Farc-EP, henceforth] in November 26, 2016. The Farc-EP was the oldest guerrilla in America and was confronting the Constitutional Colombian regime since 1964 (CNMH, 2013). After decades of failed negotiations with different governments, the agreement signed in 2016 is the first that successfully resulted in the armed group's demobilization and its transformation to an institutionalized political organization.

The "Final Agreement to End the Armed Conflict and Build a Stable and Lasting Peace" [Peace Agreement, henceforth] incorporates 5 general topics to overcome some of the structural issues that have sustained the armed conflict: i) rural reform; ii) political participation of historically excluded groups; iii) end of the conflict; iv) solution to the illicit drugs problem; and, v) victims of the armed conflict. Moreover, it includes a sixth point related with the implementation and verification of those structural pacts. These six topics were discussed in Havana, in the middle of the conflict and with complete reserve¹ between both parties' delegates, from August 2012 to September 2016. This process was called the "Peace Dialogues Table" or the "Peace Process" (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

The six points of the Peace Agreement are the result of complex communicative processes between the negotiating parties sitting in the Havana's table. It also included the intervention of other political actors, which were directly heard during the talks or recurred to mobilize in different public scenarios to promote it or oppose to it. The victims and civil society organizations, the government the Farc-EP, the

¹ At least till they began to reach agreements on each of the six final points. They began to publish them as soon as they reached an accord (Gómez, 2017: 240)

opposition, most of the international community, the business sector and the militaries were part of a national conversation. All of them expressed their vision about what should be the path to end the conflict, what mechanisms should be implemented, and how the transitional justice should be designed to achieve peace. "Armed conflict", "legal", "transitional justice", "restorative justice", "retributive justice", "impunity", were categories used and defined by the mentioned actors in the public sphere, each of them trying to impose hegemonic definitions adjusted to their interests (Gómez, 2017: 239; Navarrete, 2018: 22; Rowen, 2017: 641; Alviar García & Engel, 2016)

Transitional justice in Colombia is not a fixed category, it is malleable, and actors involved in its processes have historically struggled to fill it with meaning according to their interests. Turner (2015) and Nagy (2008) argue that in places where the armed conflict ended with an agreement that did not solve the structural problems that sustained it, and where its narratives are still actively contested, the category of transitional justice is not necessarily value free (Turner, 2015: 45). In Colombia transitional justice has been a contested space, where all the actors involved, have pushed their agendas through the use of their own vision on how to end war (Rowen, 2017).

During the peace talks with the Farc-EP, the discussion around what is transitional justice and how it should be implemented was framed by the negotiating parties throughout the standardized parameters of international human rights law and criminal law. Not only claiming to guarantee the victims' rights, but also the need to promote the transition from a violent and "undemocratic" society to a liberal democratic model, while seeking for truth, reconciliation and the replacement of a violent *status quo* with the "rule law" (Nagy, 2008: 277; Teitel, 2014: xvii-xviii; McEvoy 2007: 416; Gobierno de Colombia y Farc-EP, 2016).

Moreover, in 2015, the Farc-EP and Santos government installed a commission composed by highly renowned academics from diverse political ideologies. The

"Historical Commission of the Conflict and its Victims" (2015) made a consensus amongst three structural issues that needed to be addressed by the agreement: Firstly, the extreme inequal access to agricultural land and the lack of institutional presence in many parts of the rural national territory. Secondly, the political nature of the armed conflict, as well as the exclusion of left-wing movements and other social groups out of the political system. Thirdly, a change of the illicit drugs policy, which is aligned since the eighties to the United States' "war on drugs" (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gómez, 2017; Acosta, 2018).

Hence, the Peace Agreement settles the route to achieve peace towards the reform of some [not all] of the historical structural issues that have produced and reproduced the conflict for over 50 years (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gómez, 2017; Acosta, 2018). The pact recognizes the political nature of the conflict, the need to reform the extremely inequal rural land distribution, the political exclusion of left-wing political movements and the failed approach that the State has had on the illicit drug policy. Additionally, the agreement gives legitimacy to the victims of the armed conflict and the demobilized combatants within the legal system (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Gómez, 2017; Navarrete, 2018).

The inclusion of points that go beyond justice mechanisms, like those regarding rural reform [point 1], political participation [point 2], the solution for the illicit drugs problem [point 4], and the implementation and verification [point 6], are included within a dominant globalized view of *bureaucratized* transitional justice that connects several legal reforms, policies, combined with administrative and judicial measures (Teitel, 2014). Regarding this view, achieving peace and not repeating the armed conflict is defined by a series of policies, mechanisms, international interventions, regulations and institutional reforms. On the one hand, the Peace Agreement pretends to change what the negotiating parties defined as the underlying conditions that have sustained war for over five decades. On the other

hand, the Peace Agreement seeks to promote a transit to a consolidated liberal democracy towards transitional justice and reconciliation (Teitel, 2014: xvi; Uprimny, 2014; Turner, 2015; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

Accordingly, point five of the agreement, related with the victim's rights and justice mechanisms, has a strong emphasis on truth and reparations, promoting a restorative transitional justice perspective (Tonche & Umaña, 2017; Acosta, 2018). The different agents involved in the armed conflict have the obligation to recognize the committed crimes, to do symbolic reparations to the victims and actively participate in the judiciary and transitional institutions within the created "Integral System for Truth, Justice, Reparations and Non-Repetition" [ISTJRNR]. The institutions in charge of this point, namely, the Commission of Truth, the Special Jurisdiction for Peace, the National Search Commission for the Disappeared, and the Special Unit to Investigate Criminal Organizations, were given a limited time period to comply with their mandate (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Congreso de Colombia, 2017).

The agreement is far from perfect and it does not solve all the structural causes of the conflict. For instance, as it was approved by the Constitutional Court in 2017, the Special Jurisdiction for Peace has not compulsory competence over civilian parties within the judicial mechanisms². This makes it difficult to demand accountability from companies, businesspersons, politicians and other civilians that have historically associated or financially supported the non-state armed groups involved in the conflict (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Corte Constitucional, 2017).

Nevertheless, the Peace Agreement pushes forward the peacebuilding agenda, proposing the change of some structural issues that have reproduced the conflict:

² The Constitutional Court (2017) decided that the Special Jurisdiction for Peace is not their "natural judge", therefore the transitional justice does not hold compulsory jurisdiction for the civilians that committed crimes related with the armed conflict. However, the civilian parties involved in the conflict can access to the Special Jurisdiction for Peace voluntarily.

rural reform, political participation of the excluded, victim's rights or the drug policy. Furthermore, one of the most important evidences that the pact constituted a step forward, is the fact that it terminated the violent confrontation between the Farc-EP and the Colombian State, transforming the armed group into a political organization (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Gómez, 2017; Lemaitre & Restrepo, 2018).

Since the beginning of 2016 the Farc-EP began a demobilization process: over 7.000 combatants, more than 90% of the armed structures, handed their weapons to a United Nations [UN, henceforth] special commission and moved to designated protected areas to commence their re-integration process. In 2017 the Farc-EP became a political party and the phase of implementation began (Acosta, 2018; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

Juan Manuel Santos, the president that negotiated and signed the Peace Agreement with the Farc-EP, left office in 2018, the first year of its execution. Iván Duque Márquez, the elected president for the period 2018-2022, changed the discourse regarding the implementation of the pact. Duque is member of the "Democratic Center", the leading opposition party to the peace negotiations. Since the beginning of his presidency, he began referring to the agreement's implementation as "Peace with Legality", which seems as the institutionalization of the opposition's discourse in order to move away from some of the document's core elements.

As I will further argue in the text, Duque has defined peace as the result of legality, and legality as a result of security and justice (Duque, 2018 a), which seems like a discursive detour that distances his government from promoting the transitional justice model, the reforms and mechanisms established by the Peace Agreement (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP; Baker & Obradovic-Wochnic, 2016).

1.1. Aim and Research Questions

The purpose of the thesis is to describe how the "Peace with Legality" discourse has been used by the current Colombian government in relation to the implementation of the Peace Agreement. The research aims to investigate, using Critical Discourse Analysis, what are the meanings that the current government has been assigning to the "Peace with Legality" discourse and how it relates to previous discourses. How the president, his high-level officials and the most influential members of the "Democratic Centre" have been using it to frame the official position towards the implementation of the Peace Agreement. Furthermore, I aim to check if "Peace with Legality" detours from the agreement's narrative in relation to peacebuilding and transitional justice.

In order to meet this goal, the selected data is composed by the legal documents produced by Iván Duque's government regarding the implementation of the Peace Agreement. Moreover, I will analyze the public speeches given by Duque and his official tweets. Additionally, I selected communicative events made by Álvaro Uribe Vélez, the head of the "Democratic Center", Duque's political leader and the main promoter of the opposition to the Peace Agreement. In the data section I will go in depth about the validity and the reliability of the chosen data.

The main research question that will guide the thesis is: *How is the "Peace with Legality" discourse being used by the current government in relation to the implementation of the Peace Agreement signed with the Farc-EP?*

Further subsidiary questions are: What does legality and peace mean in "Peace with legality"? Where does the "Peace with Legality" discourse comes from/relates to other discourses? How is "Peace with Legality" related to the Peace agreement discourse? What implication might have in the attempt to achieve peace in Colombia?

1.2. Scope, Importance of the Research and Limitations

The Peace Agreement between the government and the Farc-EP is a very broad topic that can be studied from different social sciences perspectives. This thesis project subscribes to socio-legal studies, because it analyses legal documents with the lenses of the social sciences (Banakar, 2009). In order to conceptualize and analyze the "Peace with Legality" discourse it will use Critical Discourse Analysis as a method.

Amongst the many aspects of the Peace Agreement, I will focus in the relation established by Iván Duque's government between "peace" and "legality" regarding the implementation of the agreement. This research is a case study about the "Peace with Legality" discourse that looks into the relationship between peace, transitional justice and legality in Colombia.

The importance of the research is given by inexistent literature analyzing "Peace with Legality" in direct relation to the Peace Agreement's implementation. The thesis provides a description of that discourse and a critical analysis that can be used for further research in social sciences studies on the issue. Furthermore, I hope that it serves, as Critical Discourse Analysis proposes, to promote social change.

1.3. Background

1.3.1. The Opposition to the Peace Dialogues Table and to the Peace Agreement

Since the beginning of the Habana talks in 2012, the Peace Process dealt with a strong opposition. The antagonist discourses were mainly led by the members of the right-wing party "Democratic Center" ["Centro Democrático", in Spanish], headed by the ex-president Álvaro Uribe Vélez [2002-2010]. After eight years in power, and with very high levels of acceptance during his presidency, Uribe consolidated a political force in Colombia called "Uribismo" (Caicedo Artehortúa, 2016: 20). Using his political capital, in order to continue with his legacy, Uribe created the "Democratic Center" in 2014 with notorious regional and national right-wing leaders and some new figures (Gómez, 2017; Valencia Agudelo, 2019; Acosta, 2018).

From the beginning of the talks between the Santos government and the Farc-EP guerrilla, Uribe publicly opposed to them, by insisting that the agreement will lead to impunity for the crimes committed by the armed organization. For example, in April 2013, during an interview to "Caracol Noticias", one of the biggest media outlets in Colombia, Uribe said:

"Our opposition to the peace process, is not focused on the "peace" but in the impunity. (...) Our opposition is to the eligibility of drug traffickers and children recruiters. (...) when the government gives impunity to these criminal actors, it loses moral authority to construct a culture of legality." [Own Translation] (Uribe, 2013).

In May 2014, Uribe got a seat in Congress, accompanied by other 18 members of his party. The "Democratic Centre" became the strongest opposition to the peace process with the discourse of "Peace without Impunity", which was used to contest the Peace Dialogues Table and the Peace Agreement. Consequently, as part of the opposition to the Peace Dialogues Table, the party led by Uribe, on 13 December 2014, organized a "Peace without Impunity" national march (Navarrete, 2018: 27). The idea of this manifestation was to construct and promote their discourse, and to consolidate the opposing social force to the peace process. Uribe Vélez said about the mobilizations that:

"(...) it [the marches] tells the Government that the impunity that they are offering to the Farc-EP is the midwife for new violence and the beginning of the bad example to new generations. (....)". [Own translation] (<u>Uribe</u>, 2014a)

Amongst the new figures of the "Democratic Center" was Iván Duque Márquez, a newcomer in national politics who was elected Senator due to Uribe's huge electoral support. After years of working in the World Bank, he became one of the most notorious politicians during his period in Congress, from 2014 to 2018 (Wallenfeldt, 2019). In a column written in October 01, 2015, for a national newspaper, Iván Duque said about the negotiations:

(...) But if the commanders of the Farc, those from the secretariat, do not go to jail, however, on the contrary, they end up having symbolic punishments and reassuring their political participation, we will be standing in front of an outrageous **impunity**." [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2015).

The "Peace Without Impunity" discourse contested the essence of the negotiation by denying the political status to the Farc-EP and by promoting a punitive vision of justice. Nevertheless, after the negotiations ended and the agreement was signed by the government and the Farc-EP, on October 02, 2016, Juan Manuel Santos government decided to legitimate the pact with the guerrilla by holding a national plebiscite. The plebiscite asked the simple question if the Colombians supported the peace agreement or not. The "Democratic Centre" promoted the "No" vote. By a short margin, 50.21% of the votes for "No" won the plebiscite (Acosta, 2018: 4). This result led to re-negotiation regarding some aspects of the first signed pact. After one month, on November 26, 2016, the peace agreement was signed again. This time including some of the modifications demanded by the opposition without changing any of its core elements (Gobierno de Colombia, 2016).

1.3.2. Incorporation of the Peace Agreement to the Legal System

Despite the negative results of the plebiscite and the strong opposition of the "Democratic Centre" and other conservative sectors, in April 2017, the Congress approved to elevate the core elements of the agreement to constitutional law. This included the alignment of the Peace Agreement to the national law, the international humanitarian law, international human rights law and criminal law standards. All of which was approved, in its majority, by the Constitutional Court's previous constitutional control procedure (Congreso de Colombia, 2017; Corte Constitucional, 2017).

The first point, which is related with rural reform, establishes the activation of citizenship for rural inhabitants and a series of institutional reforms that conduce the state's presence in the countryside. The second point aims to give political representation and political participatory mechanisms to these rural -traditionally excluded- citizens in the Congress and other regional and local institutions. The third point settles the ceasefire: it creates or strengthens judicial and security public agencies to fight the armed organizations that would take the territorial power void left by the Farc-EP demobilization. Point four gives institutional solutions to the illicit drug problem from a social perspective, twisting the traditional securitized vision of the "war on drugs", which implies the territorial presence of new government agencies, programs and subsidies. The fifth point aims to guarantee the victims' rights; thus, it creates a complex judicial system, including a transitional tribunal, a truth commission and a new agency to find those persons disappeared during the armed conflict. Finally, point six entails the implementation and

verification mechanisms, which contains a series of local interventions across the rural Colombia by national and international institutions (Lemaitre & Restrepo, 2018; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

Afterwards, during the second semester of that year, a bulk of legislation was passed to incorporate most of the transitional mechanisms, in order to regulate the provisional institutions and to approve the broader legal reform needed to frame the six points within the juridical system. Hence, creating legal obligations for the State, the Farc-EP, those responsible for the crimes committed during the war and all the parties involved in its implementation (Congreso de Colombia, 2017a).

The transitional institutions of the "Integral System for Truth, Justice, Reparations and Non-Repetition" started to function in 2018 with the political and economic support of the international community: the European Union -and most of its state members, the United Nations, the Organization of American States and many countries in the region and around the globe (Gómez, 2017; Navarrete, 2018).

However, as I argued before, on the one hand, transitional justice has been a contested category and it has been filled with meaning by the different actors involved (Rowen, 2017; Navarrete, 2018; Gómez 2019). On the other hand, transitional justice mechanisms and processes have been mediated by the law, validated by the international and national law, institutions and mechanisms. Many of the agreement's policies have already been implemented, such as the reincorporation processes of the demobilized combatants or the political participation of the FARC³ political party. Therefore, for Duque's government it has been difficult to effectively execute its opposed policy and legal reform to the agreement (Nagy, 2008; Teitel, 2014; Turner, 2015; Valencia Agudelo, 2019)

³ The FARC party is the extinct Farc-EP guerrilla political organization, created as a result from the Peace Agreement. They transformed from a non-state armed rebellious organization into a political institution. They decided to keep the same acronym they used as their battleground name. They changed from the "Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia-People's Army" [Farc-EP, in Spanish] to "The Common Alternative Revolutionary Force" [FARC, in Spanish].

1.3.3. Definition of the Research Problem: Iván Duque's Election as President and the Emergence of the "Peace with Legality" Discourse

Since the Peace Dialogues Table was on course, the current President Iván Duque Márquez, as congressman and member of the opposition party, "Democratic Centre", strongly opposed to the peace process with the Farc-EP. He was one of the main political figures that promoted the "No" vote in the 02 October 2016 plebiscite. Furthermore, in his presidential campaign, he promised legal reforms to the laws that introduced the peace agreement of his predecessor with the Farc-EP into the legal system (Duque, 2018).

In June 2018, Iván Duque Márquez was elected president for the period 2018-2022, as the candidate of the "Democratic Centre", promising several changes to the agreement (Duque, 2018c). Álvaro Uribe Vélez, the party leader, during the presidential campaign, continued promoting the idea that the agreement with the Farc-EP had settled impunity for the crimes committed by the demobilized guerrilla members. Additionally, the main concern of the "Democratic Center" was the excess of benefits, for example, allowing its top commanders to present to national and local elections while still having pending judiciary processes (Acosta, 2018). In March 2018, while Duque was presidential candidate, during a public event in Washington sponsored by an organization called "Inter-American Dialogue", talking about the Peace Agreement, Duque Márquez outlined the Democratic Centre's "Peace without Impunity" discourse:

"We are all friends of the peace, but I conceive peace as the result of the "rule of law", making the criminals pay for the crimes they committed and not awarding the criminals, because that generates a major lack of social confidence in the institutions.

(...) everything related with the justice framework must be reformed, in order to stop the **impunity** to those accountable for crimes against humanity and **they cannot participate in politics**, which is a monstrosity without

having repaired the victims, without having told the whole truth and serving their [criminal] penalties." (Duque, 2018)"

The "Peace without Impunity" discourse has continued being used by the "Democratic Center" and the main opponents to the Peace Agreement. Nevertheless, since Duque began his presidency in August 2018, he has been using the "Peace with Legality" discourse in public speeches and within policy documents about the implementation of the Peace Agreement. This discourse appears to operate in direct contrast to the previous official discourse, used by Santos administration, which plainly used "peace". For Santos, by the implementation of the Peace Agreement Colombia was entering into a post-conflict scenario, through which society will achieve peace and reconciliation (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

Duque's discourse adds "legality" as another category into the government's official narrative in relation to the same peace process. "Peace with Legality" discourse has been used to promote legal and political reform to core aspects of the final peace agreement with the Farc-EP. Apparently, "Peace with Legality" aims to transform the opposition's "Peace without Impunity" discourse into the official narrative about the conflict and the transition to peace (Valencia Agudelo, 2019; Gómez, 2017; Duque Marquez, 2019).

Since the beginning of his mandate, Duque's government has been taking action against the peace agreement, trying to modify all the six points. For example, on March 10, 2019, Duque objected the statutory law that regulated the Special Jurisdiction for Peace and returned it to Congress for substantial modifications. However, the Constitutional Court decided against the presidential objections (Corte Constitucional, 2019). Duque wants to reform the restorative justice approach of the agreement, because, as he systematically argued during his years in the opposition to the Peace Process it was a pact of impunity (Duque, 2018b). Furthermore, the new government never refers to the "armed conflict", nor as a past violent phenomena with deep political and social roots (Revista Semana, 2019; Presidencia de la República de Colombia, 2019). Instead the government refers to "violent conditions and marginality" that are caused by "instability". Thus, Duque avoids the term "armed conflict" which is not only the term within the Peace Agreement, it is also used by the victims, the civil society, the former government, the NGO's, the international community and the actors involved in the political violence phenomenon.

One of the main distances Duque has taken from the Peace Agreement's implementation can be seen within the National Development Plan 2018-2022 [NDP, henceforth]. This document constitutes the principal policy framework that his government will use towards its four years period. The government pillar is the formula "Legality and Entrepreneurship = Equity". According to the document, peace will emanate from legality, which is a result of the enduring relationship between security and justice. This vision of legality is described in the NDP as the way to overcome the "illegality", which, according to the document, is nourished by violence. To explain this vision of legality as essential to transform violence with the focus on security and justice, the document quotes Iván Duque's inaugural address:

The pact for peacebuilding finds its principal founding in the legality culture, fruit of the unbreakable relationship between security and justice, to contest the multiple illegality factors, which, fed by violence, impede the healthy coexistence between Colombians. This is about the construction of a country in which over all of its territory, in a medium term, there is a future that has inserted the culture of 'legality, promoted entrepreneurship and, finally, equity exists'(Duque, 2018b)" (NDP, 2018: 847).

Additionally, there is a budget reduction in the NDP for several programs of the peace process implementation. In its four years plan, the government also proposes a process for stabilization and the path to guarantee "legality", focused in the

reintegration of the Farc-EP base ex-combatants, excluding the main commanders of the dismantled organization (Congreso de la República de Colombia, 2019: 3; Valencia Agudelo, 2019: 38-39).

Finally, the armed conflict has not ceased after the agreement started its implementation, it is an ongoing phenomenon unrecognized by the current government. There are several armed organizations that every day are challenging the state's legitimate power in big portions of the national territory, committing massive human rights violations (Congreso de la República de Colombia, 2019; Defensoría del Pueblo, 2020; OHCHR, 2020; Unidad de Víctimas, 2020).

It seems like "Peace with Legality" is being used to institutionalize the opposition's discourse to the Peace Agreement within the official narrative of the Colombian government. Now that Duque and the "Democratic Center" have the government's power, the implementation of the Peace Agreement has found a contested narrative coming directly from the head of the State. This discursive twist may affect the possibilities for the country to continue through a transition from war to peace. My concern is that the mechanisms, institutional reforms and policies established in the agreement, which are not complete or perfect -but surely a step forward-, are in risk of not being implemented by a discourse that hides behind "legality" (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gómez, 2017; Acosta, 2018).

1.3.4. Outline of the Text

The order of the text is determined by the order of the research process. First, I will describe the literature review, which will serve to understand the main aspects of transitional justice, how it has historically developed and the critical studies within the field. Moreover, the section will describe the previous discourse analysis literature related with transitional justice in Colombia. Second, the text will elaborate on the methodological aspects of the research, including the theoretical framework, the critical discourse analysis methods, the data and its analysis. Third,

I will present the results of the analysis. Finally, I will present the discussion of the results and the conclusions of the investigation.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

In this chapter I will describe two main bodies of previous literature: Firstly, literature related with transitional justice historical evolution, the role of law and justice in peacebuilding and the critical studies of the field. Secondly, literature concerning the Colombian processes in relation with transitional justice, mainly selected texts that analyze the discourses regarding the transitional justice development in Colombia.

The first bulk of literature gives the general framework to understand how transitional justice has been constructed as an institutionalized, global, liberal and Western "tool-kit" of legal and institutional mechanisms. All of which are applied around the world in order to promote the transition from violence to peace, and the consolidation of the "rule of law". Moreover, the critical studies of the field show how this mainstream model may fail to attend the deep changes needed to produce real peace.

The second bulk of literature provides a deeper understanding of the Colombian context. Using authors that have studied transitional justice from a critical perspective and analyzing the discourses of the peacebuilding processes in the country, I will frame the main antecedents to the Peace Agreement. Furthermore, this section will describe the previous legislation and the social discussions that were part of the dialectical construction of the agreement.

I used different searching engines to seek for the mentioned literature, always using the keywords "transitional justice", "conflict", "rule of law", "justice", "Colombia", "critical discourse analysis", "discourse analysis", mixed in different ways to find different results. I also used the same words categories in Spanish "justicia transicional" "imperio de la ley", "conflict armado", "legalidad", "paz", "justicia", "análisis crítico del discurso", "análisis del discurso". I used Lund University platform, LUBsearch; Google Scholar; the database from the National University of Colombia, SINAB; and the University of the Andes library search engine.

2.1. Literature on Transitional Justice and its Relationship with "Law", "Legality" and the "Rule of Law"

Within the bulk of literature that has developed theoretical advancements about transitional justice and its relationship with legality, I have divided my findings in two approaches to the field: the "mainstream" and the "critical". The first one shows the evolution of the field, what are its main characteristics and how its international construction relates to the Colombian Peace Agreement. The second approach works to conceptualize a critical perspective of transitional justice, which provides theoretical tools for the application of Critical Discourse Analysis as a method.

2.1.1. Transitional Justice "Mainstream" Literature

Authors within the mainstream label are those who trust the law's capacity to guarantee successful transitions, relating the idea of achieving "peace", peacebuilding or ending conflict with the consolidation of a liberal state founded in the "rule of law". In this group I will include: Ruti Teitel (2014), Alex Boraine (2006), Rodrigo Uprimny (2007 & 2014) and De Greiff (2010). Their major contribution is the description of the field and how it developed during the 20th Century to construct the current model of transitional justice, what Teitel (2014) calls the *bureaucratic model*.

For these authors, the law is the most reliable instrument to produce successful transitions. First, because the incorporation of international law, as a supposedly neutral mechanism to the parties involved in the conflict, serves to fill the transitional notions of justice, differentiating them from the past regime. In addition, it helps to produce change to a new understanding of legality and justice (Turner, 2015: 40). Law in the past has been insufficient, unfair, that is why a new concept of justice and legality is needed to transit from a previous violent context

to the rule of law. Second, because law regulates the particularities about the mechanisms to be implemented. It serves as a tool to establish the adjustments to the constitutional national systems, aligned to the universal principles enshrined in international law. According to Teitel (2014) the use of law with these two purposes facilitates the transition from an "illiberal" state to a liberal one (Teitel, 2014: xvi).

The field of transitional justice has been constructed, in the past three decades, throughout new meanings given to justice in different peace-making processes, with a marked intervention of international law. Practitioners and theorists have been constructing the field through research and doctrine, where the law receives the normative basis to establish the parameters to transitional justice implementation. Ruti Teitel (2014) coined the term "transitional justice" to refer to the distinctive understandings of justice that, after oppressive and violent ruling, were being implemented during the radical political changes at the end of the eighties. Mainly in the post-soviet countries and after the dictatorships in Argentina and Chile (Teitel, 2014: xii).

According to Elster (2004), Teitel (2014) and Uprimny (2014), there are three main transitional justice models, or waves, that have been applied since the end of World War II. Not always in a linear or consecutive form, but contingently and constructed by the specific contexts where they have emerged. These models incorporate different mechanisms, but they are characterized for being implemented between the binaries of "truth versus justice", "punishment versus impunity"," retributive vs. restorative" or "justice versus peace" (Teitel, 2014: xiii).

The **first** model, the *international law model*, incorporated the retributive perspective of the Nuremberg and the Tokyo tribunals after World War II. The main characteristic of this model is the application of retributive justice from the positivistic Western liberal legal tradition, where the "law" is conceived as universal. Within this vision, legality serves as the guarantee to punish those

accountable for "crimes against humanity", mainly the top commanders, for the genocide committed throughout the second world war (Teitel, 2014: 104).

The *international law model* has a focus on punishment, framing this model within retributive justice approaches. Under the retributive paradigm, justice is seen as retribution for the damages caused during the war and it will be fulfilled by providing an equivalent punishment to the harm done. In direct contrast to the retributive justice, the restorative approach seeks to go further from punishment. The restorative justice paradigm promotes reparations for the damage done, seeks to reconstruct the social thread broken by the committed crimes and to find reconciliation between the parties involved in the conflict (Teitel, 2014: 46; Uprimny et al, 2014).

The **second** model can be located in the transitions made, according to Teitel (2014), in three main contingencies. First, after the South American military regimes, mainly in Argentina and Chile. Second, those made by the eastern European countries as part of their transitions into liberal democracies after the fall of the USSR. Third, in the South African case after the apartheid. These processes portrayed a "constitutional approach", characterized by marked State and institutional restructuration, strongly intervened by legal reform. In the justice level, it is characterized by the recognition of individual responsibilities, e.g., truth over punishment. The main objective of these transitions was to conceal the past with the future, focusing on the constitutional reform. Moreover, to implement western liberal ideals of democracy and free market, using the "law" as a mechanism of encounter between old and new regimes (Urpimny & Saffon, 2007; Teitel, 2014; Uprimny, 2014).

Within this **second** model, at the beginning of the 1990's two paradigmatic ways of dealing with the binary "justice versus truth" showed the constant tension between restorative versus retributive approaches to transitional justice. On the one hand, the former Yugoslavia transition adopted a globalized intervention of international criminal law as the path for justice. Accordingly, the UN ad hoc tribunals were established to prosecute those accountable for massive human rights violations during the war.

On the other hand, in the South African transitional processes, the truth was prioritized over punitive justice, promoting a restorative approach. Therefore, recognition of the crimes by those accountable became the principal goal of the transition, focusing on national reconciliation. This process was accompanied by constitutional reforms to overcome the structural injustices of the apartheid regime with an instauration of a liberal democracy (Teitel, 2014; Uprimny, 2014).

During the first decade of the 2000's, the "mainstream" authors have categorized the subsequent, **third** and current model as globalized and *bureaucratic* or *institutionalized* (Teitel, 2014; Turner, 2015: 38). Transitional justice has transcended the adoption of local and national mechanisms and institutions. The *bureaucratic model* has a standardized international approach, strongly attached to security and governance and the consolidation of the "rule of law". It functions throughout the principles of liberal democracies and the human rights discourse.

This model has been promoted to be implemented in global South countries throughout the UN system (Ní Aoláin, 2013: 90). The report published in 2004 made by the UN Secretary General to the Security Council, defined transitional justice as:

"the full range of processes and mechanisms associated with a society's attempts to come to terms with a legacy of large-scale past abuses, in order to ensure accountability, serve justice and achieve reconciliation. These may include both judicial and non-judicial mechanisms, with differing levels of international involvement (or none at all) and individual prosecutions, reparations, truth-seeking, institutional reform, vetting and dismissals, or a combination thereof" (United Nations, 2004).

Moreover, Alex Boraine (2006) and Pablo De Greiff (2010), promote five pillars for transitions, which complement the mentioned UN definition. Their principles establish 1) a retributive approach to sanction the responsibility for human rights violations, 2) truth seeking, 3) reconciliation, that includes the reintegration of the ex-combatants, 4) non-repetition guarantees and 5) reparations to the victims (Navarrete, 2018; Boraine, 2006).

This *bureaucratic model* pretends a balance between restorative and retributive justice, while punishing the crimes as retribution for the damages caused. Its holistic approach also pretends to build reconciliation and emphasizes on repairing the harm done. This model also involves policy and legal reform to produce structural changes to guarantee non-repetition of the factors that produced systemic violence. Moreover, it supposes a series of legal reforms to promote the instauration of a consolidated liberal democracy (Boraine, 2006; Turner, 2015). The Colombian Peace Agreement is an example of this model of transitional justice, of course, with some localized adjustments.

2.1.2. Critical Transitional Justice Studies

In the past decades, the global institutionalization of transitional justice has constructed it as a "toolbox". It is now a recipe that must be applied in all countries ceasing periods of violence, with a strong intervention of the UN and the international community (McEvoy, 2007). According to critical authors [to the mainstream position], namely Nagy (2008), Bell (2008), Leebaw (2008), Robins (2012) and Sharp (2015), the *bureaucratic model's* western and liberal essence has produced a highly "legalized" process. This trust in the "law" as a neutral mechanism and the faith in its institutions to establish the "rule of law" tends to replicate structural social and gender injustices, detaching the process from reality and do not promote a contextual adjusted model.

Nagy (2008), Bell (2008) and Sharp (2015) problematize the scope of transitional justice, its capacity to effectively fulfill its goals to peacebuilding and to consolidate democratic systems. The assumptions that come with the *bureaucratic model*, for example claims like "break with the past" or "never again", present very broad and simplistic solutions to problems that are present amongst different structures of society, which are exacerbated by the armed conflict.

According to Nagy (2018:230), these liberal assumptions "obscure continuities of violence and exclusion". For instance, in the South African case, after the implementation of the transitional mechanisms, the unequal racist structures, land ownership concentration, structural socioeconomic inequalities based on race, or gender-based violence, continued being part of society. Therefore, constantly reproducing social conflict and exclusion, without achieving the proposed transitional justice goals of peacebuilding and democracy (Nagy, 2008; Bell (2008); Sharp, 2015).

Additionally, according to Ní Aoláin (2013), the contemporary institutionalized global approach to transitional justice comes from a Global North hegemonic position, which deploys an uncritical discourse that has appropriated and codified knowledge: a discursive colonization. Language is used to produce the "toolbox" model, reproducing hierarchies of value, mandating how the transition must be implemented and evaluated in order to be recognized (Ní Aoláin, 2013: 90). In this sense, the different global institutions involved in promoting transitional justice, i.e., United Nations or The International Center for Transitional Justice, use the "tool-box" when advising countries how they should implement the transitions.

The "tool-box" can be mainly found in the United Nations "Guidance Note about Transitional Justice" (2010) and the already mentioned "Report of the Secretary General on the Rule of Law and Transitional Justice" (2004). These two documents contain the main standardized elements of the *bureaucratic model*, which aim to be used in countries going through transition. Mainly Global South countries that must

deal with the asymmetrical powers within the international political and legal systems.

Gready & Robins (2017) show how in different transitions around the world transitional justice relates with elite discourses. For example, in the case of Nepal or East Timor, transitional justice has not been able to effectively achieve its goals under the liberal institutional and constitutional reforms. In those cases, after the implementation of the transitional justice *bureaucratic model's* toolbox, the underlying socioeconomic inequalities that produced violence before the implementation of transitional justice have persisted. The same elites that had access to land ownership, political power and economic capital, are the same ruling the country today. Thus, the structural changes needed to succeed through the implementation of transitional justice, were not implemented (McEvoy, 2007; Robins, 2012: 7; Gready and Robins, 2017).

Furthermore, the strong liberal foundations of the globalized *bureaucratic model* combine legal reform and the strengthening of the state, in which institutions, politicians and public servants, who may be accountable for the crimes committed during war, continue being active part of the power structures. McEvoy (2007:422) questions the Colombian transitional models applied during the nineties and the beginning of the 2000's, arguing that several state agents have the double status of victimizers and leaders of the transition. Thus, the liberal application of transitional mechanisms tends to replicate the ordinary and traditional institutional forms, which reproduce the historical structural systemic violence. In countries where the justice systems are characterized by corruption, brutality and inefficiency, promoting "state like" institutions will lead to "failure and disillusionment" (McEvoy, 2007: 437).

Leebaw (2008) argues that liberal views consider law as a neutral tool capable of regulating violence and apprehending abusers of power. This view subsequently overlooks the instrumentalization of law as a mean for legitimization of violence

and for sustaining the abuse of power. According to her, the same happens with the *bureaucratic model*, where the institutions have the intention to transform previous political practices by "confronting denial and transforming the terms of debate on past abuses". Nevertheless, they try to establish their own legitimacy without changing those dominant [social, political, economic and cultural] frameworks from the past (Leebaw, 2008:95).

Finally, according to McEvoy (2007) and Nagy (2008), from a sociolegal perspective, political, cultural and social contexts give form to transitional justice. In the same sense, Rowen (2017) argues that the focus of research in the field must be on the instrumentalization of transitional justice as a disputed category, not its conceptualization. Therefore, understanding contexts, upon which political change, transitions and peacebuilding occur, becomes an important issue that needs to be addressed from the academic field.

2.1.3. Law as the Remedy to Violence: A Critical Analysis on Transitional Justice in Colombia

As "Peace with Legality" calls for a version of peacebuilding strongly mediated by law enforcement, I looked for literature that showed this connection in Colombia: peace, legality and violence. Additionally, the Peace Agreement settled international law as the mediator between the parties in conflict, in order to produce peace and reconciliation. In a text called "Law and Violence in the Colombian Post-Conflict: State-Making in the Wake of the Peace Agreement", Lemaitre & Restrepo (2018) show how law has been understood as a mechanism to solve violence but many times in history it has also become the generator of conflict. Colombian culture around legality is determined by its connection to the Republican Latin American tradition and its European continental law inheritance. Thus, by the constant struggle between the opposites "civilization" and "barbarism" (Leamaitre & Restrepo, 2018). Lemaitre & Restrepo (2018) describe how the Peace Agreement is a middle point between opposing forces -the country's elites and the Farc-EP- regarding the necessity to strengthen the State's presence, in order to promote the rule of law to achieve peace. According to these authors, since the independence from the Spanish empire [1810] in Colombia, the idea of "civilization" is connected to the expansion of the "rule of law", as a way to order society and to fight barbarism. The absence of State's law is equalized to violence and disorder, meanwhile, the law is assumed as source of order and civilization. Nowadays, the 1991 Constitution establishes the "Social State of Law" which has become the incarnation of the "rule of law", which magical powers need to be spread through the whole territory (Lemaitre & Restrepo, 2018: 4). They critically appoint this tradition and link it to the "Peace Agreement", analyzing critically the liberal vision towards the implementation of the "rule of law" as a way of ending the violence in Colombia.

Moreover, according to Lemaitre and Restrepo (2019) in "every major junction" law, understood as a civilizing tool, has been trusted as the solution to violence. Hence, according to them, the six points of the "Peace Agreement" operate under this tradition, where the state's presence is brought by the "rule of law" as a way to end violence and order society. These six points are based on the transversal idea of building what Juan Manuel Santos government called "territorial peace", which translates into the expansion of the State's presence and the "rule of law" beyond the military and police institutions.

One of the main contributions of Lemaitre's and Restrepo's work is the analysis, from a critical perspective, of different previous investigations. The researches they analyzed question the role of law as a tool to end violence, as settled in the "Peace Agreement". They show how the liberal tendency in peacebuilding assumes that taking the "rule of law" to territories where the State had no previous or weak presence will lead to the ending of "barbarism", leading to "civilization".

Furthermore, they argue that in certain territories where the armed conflict has been traditionally intense, namely Ituango in Antioquia and the Northern Cauca, the "rule of law" has arrived through neoliberal development projects that have found resistance from the communities, indigenous, Afro-Colombians and farmers that traditionally have lived in these regions. They all demand policies focused on solving poverty and socio-economic inequalities, access to land, education or healthcare. The State's answer to the resistance of these communities has not been to satisfy their demands but to contest social protest with police and military violence (Lemaitre and Resptrepo, 2018: 12-14).

These phenomena can be complemented with the critique that McEvoy (2007) gives to the liberal trust in law as an effective mechanism to solve violence and social conflict. This author uses the concept of "magical legalism" to explain how some governments discursively instrumentalize the incorporation of international human rights laws into their systems to detour attention from their negligence. Precisely, to hinder the absence of protection to their population against violence, or even to hide the fact that State's institutions can be responsible for the abuses. McEvoy uses Michael Taussig's investigation in Colombia about "law in a lawless land", where the author describes a culture around legality in which for every problem there is a law to solve it. Every international human right treaty is ratified, and the country is part of most of the international community's protection mechanisms and tribunals. Nonetheless the reality experienced is very distant from the law in the books: high levels of violence, corruption and impunity (McEvoy, 2007: 419).

2.2. Colombian Literature on Transitional Justice, Legality and Critical Discourse Analysis

According to Gómez (2017: 239), the academic research regarding transitional justice in Colombia are atypical because of two main reasons. First, there has not been a complete transition from war to peace. Moreover, there has not been a regime change like, for example, in the former soviet countries or in the Argentinian and Chilean cases (Uprimny, 2014). Second, because the mechanisms applied during the Colombian armed conflict have been partial, gradual and long-term based. In the next lines I will shortly present a brief overview of the most important literature related with the discourses that have marked the transitional justice in Colombia, focusing in those related with "law", "legality" or "rule of law".

2.2.1. Transitional Justice Before the Farc-EP Peace Agreement

For my literature review I traced previous discourse analysis studies done in relation to transitional justice processes and relevant peacebuilding moments that antecede the Peace Agreement. These investigations serve to construct the historical development that lead to the Peace Agreement and today's "Peace with Legality" discourse, used by the President Iván Duque Márquez. I found research that shows the antecedents to this discourse within three moments: First, the discourses around impunity since the 1990's in the juncture of the demobilization of leftist guerrillas before the 1991 Political Constitution. Second, the "Justice and Peace Law" during Álvaro Uribe Vélez government [2002-2010], which created a transitional justice system that evolved and transformed linked to the international consolidation of the *bureaucratized* model. Third, the literature that describes the dialectical processes during the Havana Negotiation Table, which led to the Peace Agreement.

2.2.1.1. From Full Amnesties to the Transitional Justice in the "Peace and Justice Law"

During its 50 years of war, Colombia has adopted different transitional mechanisms. Between 1990 and 1991, the governments of the time gave pardons

and amnesties to the demobilized combatants of the M-19 (Movement of April 19th), the EPL (Popular Army of Liberation), the Quintin Lame and a faction of the ELN (National Liberation Army) guerrillas. During these transitions, transitional justice focused in debates around economic and political power distribution, without focusing on any punitive or justice measures.

In this period and throughout all the previous peace negotiations, it is hard to find discourses around impunity and transitional justice. The peace building processes before the 2000's mainly concentrated in the ex-combatants' compromise to demobilize and to contribute to the truth about their participation in the conflict. Meanwhile, the State agreed on bringing them warranties for political participation (Alviar García & Engel, 2016: 218). Several leaders of these demobilized armed organizations were murdered after they began their political participation within the constitutional framework, but many others became active political leaders and participated in the National Constitutional Assembly of 1991 (Uprimny, 2014).

During the nineties and the first decade of the 2.000's, through different negotiation tables, the governments unsuccessfully tried to reach an agreement with the Farc-EP. In 1999, the president back then Andrés Pastrana Arango [1998-2002] and the Farc-EP initiated a conversation table in the Caguán, a vast rural municipality in the Caquetá department where the guerrilla had strong territorial control. The Farc-EP left the negotiations in February of 2002 and Pastrana's government immediately twisted its policy to a full military approach, which led to a rise in the intensity of the conflict. After the failed process, in 2002 this guerrilla had 20.700 combatants, summed up to a political and organizational structure, operating in most of the national territory (CNMH, 2013; CERAC, 2014).

Just months after the failed Caguán peace negotiations, Álvaro Uribe Vélez [2002-2010] was elected president as an independent right-wing candidate, in May 2002, with the slogan "Firm Hand, Big Heart". During his 8 years of government, Uribe depicted the Farc-EP as the biggest enemy of the "homeland". According to this

discourse, its members needed to be militarily eliminated, almost at any cost, through the implementation of his well-known "Democratic Security" policy, a discourse aligned with the post 9/11 war against terror (Moreno Torres, 2012). This policy's implementation almost duplicated the military force in the country, which in 1998 was around 250.000 combatants, and at the end of Uribe's government was close to 450.000 (CNMH, 2013: 179)

Moreover, Uribe Vélez government, in 2003, began a secret negotiation process with the right-wing paramilitaries. Thus, in 2004 proposed a law to demobilize and reintegrate paramilitaries, strengthen the state's presence, reinforce the "war on drugs" and, supposedly follow the international parameters of truth, reparations, justice and non-repetition for the victims. The law is called "Justice and Peace Law" and it began its implementation in 2006 with several modifications proposed by the Congress and by the Constitutional Court (Alviar García & Engle, 2016).

During its legislative process in Congress between 2004 and 2005, and the upcoming implementation years, this law was contested by many opposition sectors to Uribe Velez government. NGO's and victim's organizations claimed that the law promoted impunity for the crimes committed by the paramilitaries. Uribe answered to these claims saying: "When there is a peace process, there cannot be full criminalization in the name of justice" and "Nor can there be total impunity in the name of peace." (Alviar García & Engle, 2016: 2016).

This transitional justice law was created to demobilize, reintegrate and judge the paramilitaries for massive human rights violations, while repairing their victims. It had strong foundations in the second model of transitional justice, focusing on retributive judicial mechanisms as means to end violence. Nonetheless, during its implementation it was modified by posterior laws, incorporating some elements from the *bureaucratic model*'s holistic vision as a way to achieve, in the United Nations standards: truth, justice, reparations and non-repetition guarantees (Rowen, 2017: 620).

One of the main modifications to the Law was the incorporation of the Decree1059 of 2008, which amplified the scope of the "Peace and Justice Law" in order to include demobilized guerrilla members to its mechanisms. Moreover, the number of victims and the conflict intensity increased during Uribe's "Democratic Security". The transitional mechanisms implemented by Uribe Vélez promoted benefits to individual and collective demobilizations of guerrilla members, while keeping a strong military approach. The purpose of this mechanism was to reduce the number of active guerrilla combatants by giving them judicial and economic benefits, reducing the organization's military power. Besides, incorporating them to the reintegration programs designed to ex combatants of illegal armed groups (CNMH, 2013).

The "Justice and Peace Law" has been strongly criticized by having loaded all the goals [reparations, truth, justice and non-repetitions guarantees measures] of the transitional justice into the justice system. As I stated before, during the Congress debates and its posterior implementation [which is still going on today], the law found a strong opposition and critics from victims' organizations and different political and academic actors, arguing that it promoted impunity (Rowen, 2017: 620).

During Juan Manuel Santos government [2010.2018] some of the most relevant modifications in terms of justice and reparations were made to the "Justice and Peace Law". The process established by that Law was focused on judicial mechanisms, specifically the victim's rights to reparations and truth were provided by a judiciary sentence. The "Victims and Land Restitution Law" [2011] changed that paradigm and transformed all reparations given by the judiciary into administrative standardized reparations for all recognized victims. It also incorporated holistic interaction between the judiciary and the executive branches in order to bring assistance, attention and to guarantee the victim's rights. Most importantly, as a twist in the discourse from Uribe's government, Santos' "Victims

and Land Restitution Law" recognized the political underlying causes of the armed conflict (Ley de Víctimas, 2011; Decreto 1592, 2012, and Decreto 3011, 2013).

The "Justice and Peace Law", with all its multiple subsequent reforms, constitutes one of the most relevant and immediate precedents in terms of transitional justice to the "Peace Agreement" between Juan Manuel Santos government and the Farc-EP guerrilla. Furthermore, the explicit recognition to the armed conflict and its political underlying conditions established in the "Victims and Land Restitution Law" constitutes the discursive change that paved the way to the Habana Dialogues Table and the posterior Peace Agreement (Alviar García & Engel, 2016).

2.2.2. The Different Positions During "Habana Dialogues" Between Juan Manuel Santos Government and the Farc-EP

Previous sociolegal and sociological research have shown how context directly influenced all the transitional justice models and approaches implemented in Colombia during the five decades of armed conflict, hence, those processes cannot be simply defined as top-down approaches (Rowen, 2017: 625). Furthermore, studies about transitional justice discourses in the country show that it is a disputed category used by different actors, which has become instrumentalized for its own political purposes (Gómez, 2017; Rowen, 2017; Navarrete, 2018).

According to previous discourse analysis studies produced by Rowen (2017), Gómez (2017) and Navarrete (2018), it is difficult to find a consensus around the transitional justice meanings in Colombia. These bulk of investigations describe a constant dialectical dynamic during the last decades, where the international framework and the national context interact through the voice of the victims, the government, the politicians, the civil society, the armed groups, the judiciary, and the public opinion. In this scenario the law has served as a tool to promote and demand rights, accountability and political and legal reform, with the transitional justice mechanisms as a mean to achieve peace. Alviar García and Engle (2016) argue that Colombia's 21st century transitional justice approaches have been marked by the use of "justice" and "impunity" categories as instruments to promote its own agenda and perspective regarding peacemaking.

These contested dynamic around transitional justice characterized the Havana Dialogue Table [2012-2016] between Juan Manuel Santos government and the Farc-EP. Santos reelection campaign slogan, for the period 2014-2018, was "Peace, Equity and Education" (NDP 2014-2018). According to Gómez (2017), he was reelected in 2014 promising to conduce the country to a "post-conflict" scenario and to create the conditions to end the war, achieving what his government constantly called "the peace" (Gómez, 2017: 238).

Furthermore, the negotiations had the support of different international actors, e.g., the European Union -and all its members-, the United Nations, and many countries in the region and around the globe, which strengthen the process, even when nationally its public support was divided (Gómez, 2017; Navarrete, 2018).

In his investigation "Between Punishment and Reconciliation: Sociolegal Analysis about the Peace Process and the Negotiation of the Agreement on Victims of the Conflict", Gabriel Ignacio Gómez (2017) analyzed the discourses that circulated the public debates during the Peace Dialogues Table between Farc-EP and Santos government.

2.2.2.1. The Opposition: "Peace Without Impunity"

Gómez (2017) research found that the main discourses appropriated by the different actors can be located within three big groups. Firstly, the **political discourse of the opposition leaders**, where we can place the "Democratic Center", its main leader,

the ex-president Álvaro Uribe Vélez and, amongst others, the current president, Iván Duque Márquez.

As I outlined before, the main discourse promoted by the opponents of the Peace Dialogues Table was "Peace without Impunity": they stated that the agreement was going to lead to impunity of the massive human rights violations committed by the Farc-EP during its five decades history (Gómez, 2017: 242). This discourse is connected with the denial of the armed conflict, the military solution to the conflict and a localized version of the global war terrorism. The lack of recognition of the conflict necessarily leads to the unrecognition of its victims. Hence, when they talked about the victim's rights, according to Gómez (2017) and Navarrete (2018), it was just instrumentalizing their claim for justice, truth and reparations.

According to the members of the "Democratic Center" and other conservative leaders, the implementation of the pact was going to produce the submission of the State to the Farc-EP -which eventually was going to transform Colombia into a "socialist dictatorship" like Venezuela. Moreover, some radical religious sectors argued that the agreement had incorporated the so called "gender ideology". This notion has been used in pejorative ways to reject women's and LGBTQI+ rights in favor of a heteronormative vision of family and gender. Finally, as I argued before, the "Democratic Center" and his members, including the current president, Iván Duque Márquez, promoted the discourse of "Peace without Impunity" in order to oppose the justice mechanisms that were being negotiated [and that today have begun its implementation] in the Havana (Acosta, 2018; Gómez, 2017: 240-242).

Within "Peace without Impunity" the law functions to eliminate the enemy, not as a mean to negotiate conditions for ending violence. This discourse claims for a retributive version of justice focused on punishment, which translates into the impossibility of conceding amnesties or pardons. The only way of justice is imprisonment of Farc-EP members (Duque, 2018; Uribe 2015, 2019). However, the discourse promotes special judicial benefits to the military member that have committed severe human rights violations (Gómez, 2017: 247).

2.2.2.2. The Supporters of an Agreement with Legal Limits

Gómez (2017) identified a middle ground group that supported the process with legal limits. This group was composed by most of the civil society organizations, moderate political sectors, several agents within the international community and the Colombian government. They all agreed at least on three aspects regarding the peace process in the Havana. First, the existence of an armed conflict and the need of a negotiated solution to end the armed conflict. Second, the recognition of the Farc-EP and other armed organizations as valid political opponents. Third, they acknowledged the need to adjust the Peace Agreement to the international standards of justice, truth, reparations and non-guarantees measures, putting the victims in the center of any possible settlement.

According to Gómez (2017:247) this group opens into in two parts in relation with the legal measures: 1) those who have a retributive tendency: putting more efforts in justice as punishment, with no amnesties to severe human rights violations, imprisonment to top commanders, and the ex-combatants political participation conditioned to be possible after the execution of judicial sentences; 2) those who have a restorative tendency, were the law functions as a moderate limit to politics: they were supporting amnesties to certain human rights violations with the possibility of political participation without the mediation of a judicial sentence, and within the implementation of transitional justice's holistic model.

In the first group, Gómez places Santos government and, as one of the biggest stakeholders of the process, Human Rights Watch. For Human Rights Watch giving full amnesties to massive human rights violations was a form of diminishing the victim's right to justice (HRW, 2015). In the second group, Gómez identified most

of the international and national NGO's, and most of the victims' organizations (Gómez, 2017: 244; Rowen, 2017).

The victims and their organizations recognized their plurality of interests and identities. However, as an heterogenous group, they requested for being included in the negotiations, and to access to the new transitional justice mechanisms to truth, justice and reparations, with a differential approach. Women, afro-descendants, indigenous, and LGBTQI+ victims, claim to be given a place in the decisions to design the transitional model and to be at the center of every process within the transitional justice (Navarrete, 2018: 28-29).

Additionally, after decades of unsolved judicial processes in the ordinary justice, the armed conflict victims were aiming for an agreement between the government and the Farc-EP (Gómez, 2017: 244; Navarrete, 2018: 29). More important, the victims expected the consolidation of a holistic, restorative, transitional justice system, which could effectively deliver peace, justice, reparations, truth and non-repetition guarantees. Additionally, they demanded to the negotiators in the Habana the inclusion of effective measures to solve the historical material conditions of social exclusion and economic inequalities: access to basic public services, healthcare, housing, access to agricultural land and political participation (Navarrete, 2018: 34).

2.2.2.3. Supporters of the Agreement Without Legal Limits

Gómez identifies a third group that supported an agreement without any legal limitations. This third group was mainly led by the Farc-EP and the far-left political organizations which historically have supported the armed violence against the State. This group is characterized for denying the full recognition of the victims' rights, summed to the total rejection of imprisonment and punishment. They demanded amnesty and pardon for all crimes as a result of the negotiations (Gómez, 2017: 245). Their vision on justice was highly [conveniently] restorative, putting

all the efforts in truth mechanisms. Hence, their commanders were aiming to achieve an agreement without imprisonment or ordinary criminal punishments (Navarrete, 2018: 31).

For decades the Farc-EP sustained that they were part of a legitimate war against the state and their actions were "necessary" to fight against an establishment. According to the Farc-EP, the political elites created the violent and structural economic, political and social conditions that led to their emergence as an armed organization. After several previous failed negotiations, in the Havana Dialogues they manifested the will to be recognized as a political actor within the constitutional system. Thus, one of the biggest accomplishments of the agreement was that the Farc-EP accepted there was no need to promote deep constitutional reform. The negotiations and the agreements were framed within the current Colombian 1991 Political Constitution (Gómez, 2017: 242; Navarrete, 2018: 30).

Finally, the peace agreement incorporated different elements from all these interventions during the negotiations. The agreement is a result of the dialogue between the actors involved, which all moved the agenda regarding their interests. I identify three discussions as the most relevant for my research within the Habana Peace Process:

- the recognition of the political and historical causes of the armed conflict;
- the retributive and restorative mechanisms; and
- the possibility of political participation of the demobilized guerrilla members as a mechanism to build reconciliation and non-repetition (Gómez, 2017).

The next graphic made by Gómez (2017) and translated by me shows the three different associations between the political discourses and its legal manifestations:

Political discourse			Support to the
in opposition to the	Support to the peace	process with legal	process without
peace process	limits		legal limits
Terrorist threat	Armed conflict		Armed conflict
Absolute Enemy	Ethical enemy		Ethical Enemy
Military solution	Negotiated solution		Negotiated solution
Victims	Recognition of the victims		Precarious
instrumentalized (for			recognition of the
those in this position			victims
they never existed).			
Legal manifestation of the political discourses ⁴			
Impossibility to	Impossibility to	Amnesty for	Reject to
concede amnesties or	concede amnesties in	political crimes and	imprisonment as
pardons	regard to serious	other mechanisms	punishment
	violations to the		
	international		
	humanitarian law		
Imprisonment to	Judicial processes and	Holistic	Seeking for
Farc-EP members	imprisonment as	perspective of	amnesties and
and special judicial	central to justice	transitional justice	pardons
benefits to the			
militaries.			
Law as tool to	Law as a strong limit	Law as a moderate	Law as negotiation
eliminate the enemy	to politics	limit to politics	

Table1. Legal and Political Discourses

Source: Gómez, 2017: 247.

⁴ Remember that within the middle group that supported the peace process but with legal limits, there was a division regarding the legal measures. This is why below is divided into two parts.

2.4. Gap in the Literature

The only trace about the specifics of my topic and research problem I could found was an academic article written by Valencia Agudelo (2019) called "La Paz y la JEP en el Plan Nacional de Desarrollo (2018-2022)". The text briefly analyses the discursive elements within the National Development Plan 2018-2022 [NDP, henceforth] in relation to the Peace Agreement and the Special Jurisdiction for Peace. The NDP is the most important policy document that governments have in Colombia to frame their 4 years period. The article shows how within the NDP has a crucial discursive change between Santos and Duque's government in relation to peacebuilding.

According to this author, the political and economic guidelines established in the NDP [2018-2022] are disconnected from the Peace Agreement signed by the former government with the Farc-EP guerrilla (Valencia Agudelo, 2019: 36).

After the agreement was incorporated by the State's law, it created several institutions and mechanisms to settle the path for peacebuilding. Its implementation also demands immense political, administrative and economic efforts. Thus, it was necessary that the 2018 presidential elections' winning party made a commitment to give the importance that demands such an ambitious project. Nevertheless, it seems that instead of centering the NDP around peace – as the former government did – Iván Duque's NDP lacks the discursive force to promote and implement the 6 points of the pact with the Farc-EP guerrilla (Valencia Agudelo: 38).

Aside from this article, I found there are no Critical Discourse Analysis studies done to Iván Duque's "Peace with Legality" discourse in relation to the implementation of the Peace Agreement. I want my research to produce a valuable critical description of "Peace with Legality", in order to contribute to sociolegal studies of transitional justice studies in Colombia.

2.3. Literature Review Conclusions

The "mainstream" literature within transitional justice studies, has the great value of describing the historical processes and events that have constructed the field, which encompasses its functioning, developments, principles, regulations, and the legal and institutional mechanisms involved since the 20th century. These texts have the virtue of explaining how different experiences in several parts of the world, in different times and contingencies, have created the *bureaucratic* holistic transitional justice model. However, this bulk of literature is founded on a Western perspective of justice, law, democracy, the state and the rule of law. Therefore, mainstream authors, namely Ruti Teitel or Rodrigo Uprimny, were grouped under this category because they promote the liberal idea of law as the effective mechanism to remedy violence. At the same time, they claim that transitional justice current goals should lead to consolidate or strengthen liberal democracies, while adjusting local legal systems to the international legal standards.

The critical authors to the mainstream transitional justice literature -like Kieran McEvoy or Rosemary Nagy- question the liberal view of the field, and its trust in the law's capacity as a neutral instrument to end violence. The authors inserted under the label "critical" portray how the mainstream view promote legal reforms and the incorporation of international law instruments into nation-states' juridical systems. Most of the time, without being able to promote real change in the social, political and economic structures that reproduce the violence. For example, the gender-based violence or the police brutality against environmental leaders, as outlined by Gready & Robins (2017) and Lemaitre & Restrepo (2018).

Moreover, as promoted by the mainstream view - like the Colombian case-, the State strengthen may lead to the reproduction of previous violence, because the same elites, oligarchies, or politicians that have responsibility over the past abuses, may continue in power during and after the transition. Furthermore, the critical authors also define, from a postcolonial perspective, the transitional justice as a "tool-kit" promoted in the past decades by the *bureaucratic model*, showing how it reproduces the asymmetric global inequalities.

Colombian literature on the matter describes how transitional justice has been a contested category, because the different actors: governments, NGO's, victims and their organizations, the international community, politicians, academics and the members of the armed groups, have used transitional justice to promote their own agendas. Nevertheless, it can be observed that the model incorporated in the 2016's Peace Agreement between Juan Manuel Santos government and the Farc-EP promotes a marked tendency to the *bureaucratic model's* view.

The pact settles the law as a mediator and endorses the idea of transition to a more democratic state throughout the installment of the "rule of law". However, it incorporates, as said by Lemaitre and Restrepo (2018), a holistic view of this model, with some pretended reforms to the rural Colombia, the illicit drugs policy or the political participation of those traditionally excluded from representative democracy. Summed up to transitional judicial and non-judicial institutions and mechanisms, like the truth commission or the "Special Jurisdiction for Peace".

Finally, as shown by Lemaitre and Restrepo (2018), the implementation of the agreement has evidenced the difficulties of trusting legality and the consolidation of the "rule of law" without changing the unequal Colombian social structures. Hence, the State seems to favor power political elite's and economic interests over the most vulnerable communities. Thus, leaving unattended the structural social changes needed by those historically most affected by war, like in Ituango in Antioquia or the Northern Cauca.

3. METHODOLOGY

For the theoretical framework, I will use transitional justice critical theory. It will provide the research with the necessary analysis categories to understand the core problems regarding the implementation of transitional justice's *bureaucratic model* in Colombia. These theories use critical analysis from postcolonial theory, feminist theory and Marxism. All of which shall offer the research tools to analyze how "Peace with Legality" has been constructed regarding the implementation of the Peace Agreement and what its relationship with law, legality and justice is.

Additionally, these studies present a critical point of view about its limits and the effectiveness shown by its mechanisms to achieve its goals to end violence. Always checking on the power and social structures behind the mechanisms and institutions involved. The main authors that I will use will be McEvoy (2007), Leebaw (2008), Nagy (2008), Sharp (2015), Ní Aoláin (2013), Teitel (2014), Turner (2015), Rowen (2017), Gómez (2017), Navarrete (2018). Those who I classified as "mainstream" authors, will be used for descriptive and historical purposes.

As a method, I will use Critical Discourse Analysis [CDA, henceforth] to analyze how "Peace with Legality" relates to transitional justice, and its direct link to law, legality, rule of law, justice, conflict and peace. The three-dimensional analysis methodology proposed by Fairclough (1992 & 2013) will be used to investigate the discourse dimension, the discourse practice dimension and the social practice dimension of the "Peace with Legality" discourse. This involves analyzing legal documents and public speeches that President Iván Duque Márquez and his highlevel functionaries have been producing during the last two years, involving discussions about the implementation of the Peace Agreement.

Furthermore, it implies to investigate how this discourse has been produced, distributed and received by the different actors involved in the implementation, nationally and internationally: How are they using it? In what spaces and moments?

Who is transmitting the discourse and how? Who is receiving it? It also leads to clarifying if there is a link between the discourse and social reality, if there have been any causal relations, as a consequence of the use of the "Peace with Legality" discourse.

In this section I will at first present the theoretical considerations about the transitional justice critical theory and CDA. Then I will outline the specifics of CDA as a method, the data collection and analysis proposal.

3.1. Theoretical framework

The critical point of view that characterizes the theoretical framework chosen for this project implies that I am looking into the power structures behind the "Peace with Legality" discourse. Leebow (2008) and Nagy (2008) criticize the trust that the *bureaucratic model* deposits on the law as a neutral mechanism. Their critical standpoint shows how the current "tool-box" model of transitional justice is implemented in Global South countries with the aim to promote standardized liberal democracies (Ní Aoláin, 2013: 2). The transitions usually do not change the social inequalities or relations of dominance and exclusion that have produced the violence. The reforms proposed by this model usually do not succeed to end conflict or to accomplish its goals, because power structures are the same before and during the transition.

As McEcvoy (2007) has shown, those elites who hold power in the State institutions before and during the transitions, are the ones in charge of the implementation. This situation led to the permanence of the same social power structures that have produced the violence. According to van Dijk (1993), the social organizations of dominance are part of a power hierarchy, in which the persons and institutions that have traditionally belonged to power positions are always in advantage to exercise control and dominance. Discourses are used to impose the views of these elites and they can be enforced from the institutionalized power they hold (van Dijk, 1993: 265).

Finally, I will use the conceptualization used by Lemaitre & Restrepo (2018) about the relation of law and violence. For them, the Peace Agreement's trust in the expansion of the rule of law as the remedy to violence must be checked, because law is not necessarily a peace provider. Legality can be used to promote violence, including, of course, the legitimate State's violence.

3.2. Critical Discourse Analysis

This investigation will go further from the textual elements of the "Peace with Legality" discourse, it will mainly focus on its discursive practice and the context where it circulates. As Fairclough (2013) argues, one of the main interests of CDA is to investigate how text produces and reproduces social power, resisting inequalities and injustices within specific social contexts. CDA is "critical" because it aims to reveal how discursive practices may preserve the inequalities in the social world, focusing on unbalanced power relations (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002: 74).

Using the methodological strategy of the case study, this research uses CDA as a qualitative method to analyze the relation and impact that discourses have with social reality. This means that epistemologically, on the one hand, there is a language sphere that allows us to interpret the world, to construct it with semiotic categories. On the other hand, there is a world beyond our language descriptions of it, what Fairclough (2013) categorized as social practice. Besides, both levels interact, and language has the capacity to construct social reality, producing, reproducing or changing it. The social context interacts with the language in the same constructive way. Hence, within CDA, language works as a machine that constitutes the social world, identities and social relations (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002: 9).

As a constructivist approach, CDA understands discourses as constitutive and constituted by the social. In addition, while having a dialectic relation with social practice, producing and reproducing it, discourses are a reflection of social structures, which implies that discourses are not neutral: they are ideologically charged (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002). This is an important epistemological and methodological element in CDA: to look for ideology within discourses, essentially in the case of analyzing political discourses from a government.

3.3. How Does Critical Discourse Analysis Understands Discourses?

According to Jørgensen & Phillips (2002), discourses in CDA are, in its most abstract sense, "a form of social practice which both constitutes the social world and is constituted by other social practices". In Fairclough's CDA, discourses are a form of social practice, but it has three dimensions. It is necessary to differentiate the text, the discourse practice and the social practice. Additionally, discourses can be understood as language and images with three different applications. First, discourses are produced and reproduced in a context, they are part of social practices generated within certain power structures. Texts are manifestations of discourses, which are in constant dialogue with other social practices (Chouliaraki & Fairclough, 1999). Discourses are a form of action that impact the social, while it is also constructed through the interaction with it.

Second, discourses can also be understood as the language used within different fields: the political, the legal or the medical. Third, discourses can also refer to the most concrete way of communicating, providing experiences with meaning. In this sense, we could refer to different discourses, for example, as "liberal", "feminist" or "republican", within which we can also find heterogeneity: there is not only one "liberal" discourse, there are various "liberal discourses" loaded with different meanings and ideological standpoints (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002: 67).

Moreover, what makes CDA different from other versions of discourse analysis within social sciences is the deep focus on the text at a practical level (Chouliaraki & Fairclough 1999: 152). Its critical perspective provides the tools to seek for power relations behind discourses (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 60). Fairclough's version of CDA **aims** to investigate the connections between the use of language and its relationship with social practices.

Therefore, the three-dimensional model examines the discursive event, the discursive practice and the social practice. The discursive event refers to the text: written words, videos, images, spoken words, or any combination of them. The discursive practice consists of interaction: the processes through which texts are, on the one hand, produced, and on the other hand, received by those who consume them. The social practice dimension refers to issues commonly analyzed by social sciences: institutional and organizational matters related with the discourse event, which also contributes in the construction of the discursive practices and the effects they have (Fairclough, 1992: 4).

CDA allows to check on discourses, social practices and power structures on macro, mezzo and micro levels. Methodologically, this facilitates to work inductively from the text and build on the discursive and social practical elements present at any of those levels. It can be located in the middle point between the materialist perspective and the poststructuralist outlook: discourses are constituted by social practices, but they are also constitutive (Jørgensen & Phillips, 2002: 9,13, 20).

3.4. CDA Methods

Chouliaraki and Fairclough (1999) propose the articulation of discursive and nondiscursive moments. This means that in textual analysis, discourse and social practice work as separate entities that interconnect with each other. Hence, theoretical elements become necessary to connect both of them: "we see the project of CDA as bringing together theory and practice" (Chouliaraki & Fairclough, 1999).

Moreover, Chouliaraki and Fairclough (1999) refer to the situational and the intertextual contexts as central to the process of interpretation within the discursive practice. Discursive practices are the mediators between texts and social practices. It marks the relation between the text, its production and its consumption (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 80). Within CDA, discursive practices play an important role in the production and reproduction of structural inequalities, for instance the unequal power relations between social classes (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 74).

In terms of the situational context analysis it is useful to ask questions about time, place and process of production. For Fairclough there are two main dimensions that work as focal points: the *communicative event*, for example, a political speech, or a video; and the *order of discourse* (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 79).

The *order of discourse* is constituted by all the genres and discourses within a social field, which includes the *discourse types*. *Discourse types* integrate discourses and genres. Genres are specific parts of social practices: an interview, a tweet or a political speech. Moreover, the order of discourse includes the different discursive practices by which language is produced, interpreted and consumed. For example, the discursive practice that occurs when a journalist presents the news to the audience on primetime television. The presentation of media reports on daily events and how the information is consumed by most people in the intimacy of their homes. This example reflects a case of production and consumption as discursive practice, where discourses and genres are used in certain contexts (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 78).

The *communicative event* includes the analysis of the linguistic structure [textual dimension]. It also aims for the study of discourses and genres articulated in the

production and the consumption of the text [discursive practice dimension]. Moreover, it incorporates considerations about whether the discursive practice reproduces or instead restructures the existing order of discourse, checking its consequences for the broader social practice [the level of social practice] (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 80).

In CDA, analyzing social practices allows to look how the author creates its own discourse or the speaker uses previous discourses and texts. Discourses are linked to other discourses. Meanwhile, those who receive the text interpret and consume texts according to available genres and discourses. Therefore, consumers are not only using the text to understand it, they are part of a certain context and of a semiotic universe that gave them the tools to interpret it (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 80).

Intertextuality and interdiscursivity

Iván Duque uses the discourse of "Peace with Legality" when referring to the implementation of the Peace Agreement. Both discourses, the one incorporated in the agreement and the one promoted by Duque, have been constructed by different narratives. Within these processes the different actors involved in peacebuilding and transitional justice have used different dialectic meanings to position their political agendas. Thus, in the analysis I will check how "Peace with Legality" is being used by Duque's government in relation to the agreement's rhetoric, if it favors its implementation or if it is a way of detouring from its materialization. Furthermore, I will analyze how "Peace with Legality" has a connection, for instance, with the "Democratic Center" opposition discourse to the Peace Agreement. In order to do this analysis, CDA offers the methodological tools of intertextuality and interdiscursivity.

Intertextuality is the idea that all communicative events are based on previous events, we unavoidably will use already used phrases, texts, or expressions.

Consequently, intertextuality is an analytical tool used in CDA to investigate on earlier discourses that contribute building up other discourses. It constitutes a historic method to check on the development and changes, continuity and stability of texts. For Fairclough (1999) discourses are not closed, they have the capacity to change, giving the social actors the way to use them and produce new usages (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 86).

Interdiscursivity is a manifestation of intertextuality and happens when different genres and discourses are articulated in the same communicative event. Hence, when applying CDA it becomes important to focus on the relation between the discursive reproduction, to analyze the relations between different discourses within an order of discourse and between different orders or discourses. This process allows the researcher to check how it was constructed through semantic, textual and social practices that precede it (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002: 87).

3.5. Data

The chosen empirical material for this project mainly focuses on the political discourses and tweets produced by the current Colombian President Iván Duque Márquez [2018-2020] and Álvaro Uribe Vélez, the main leader of the "Democratic Center". All of them related with the transitional justice in Colombia and the Peace Agreement. The timeframe of the communicative events includes the period in which the "Democratic Center" led the opposition to the Peace Agreement from the Congress. Hence it covers January 2014 till April 2020.

I selected documents containing the expression "Peace with Legality" ["Paz con Legalidad", in Spanish] and those linked with the implementation of the Peace Agreement that contained the words "legality", "law", "impunity" or "justice". It is to be reminded that I understand "Peace with Legality" as a political discourse that has a direct connection with the Peace Agreement.

The data was collected systematically, using the timeframe of its publication as the main factor to organize it, from the first dated reference I found of "Peace with Legality" and its related discourses to the last one. Then, I did a depuration of the first collection, selecting only those documents that provided relevant content for the process of analysis and conceptualization.

In order to examine intertextuality and interdiscursivity of Iván Duque's government "Peace with Legality", I also checked on "Peace Without Impunity" related communicative events. I opted to only use tweets and media articles produced by Álvaro Uribe Vélez and Iván Duque for two main reasons. First, because they are the most representative figures of the party, and while analyzing the data, I realized that the textual productions of the other members did not contribute new discursive elements to its conceptualization. Second, the selected timeframe is broad and therefore examining documents of other actors in addition would exceed this thesis project. Hence, the chosen documents were selected based on their content, specifically on their capacity to conceptualize the "Peace with Legality" discourse and to show a probable relationship with other discourses, like "Peace without Impunity".

Finally, I also analyzed interdiscursivity between the Peace Agreement and "Peace with Legality". Therefore, the document of the agreement will serve as data as well as the Legislative Act 001 of 2017, which incorporated it into the legal system. Additionally, other policy documents of Duque's government associated with the implementation of the pact will be used as data. Namely, the "Peace with Legality" (2018) policy document, the "Security and Defense Policy" (2019) and the National Development Plan (2019).

3.5.1. Data Validity and Reliability

In order to answer the research question, I opted for a qualitative analysis using transitional justice critical studies as theory and CDA as method, which together

provide compatible methodological tools to conceptualize the selected data. In this sense, the chosen material was carefully chosen by its capacity to meet the goals of the research, adjusting to the theory and the qualitative CDA methods (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002). The selected data serve as evidence of my claims. If the documents I have chosen to meet the goals of this investigation were analyzed by other researchers they will probably obtain the same results I did (Prior, 2011).

The relevance of the legal documents I selected to analyze is given by their capacity to answer the research question and to meet the aim of the research. These documents were chosen by the impact they have on society, because they define actions and policies that Ivan Duque's government is currently executing. These communicative events are part of the juridical system and they have inserted discourses that have a direct impact on society (Chouliaraki & Fairclough, 1999). The reliability of this documents is based on their authenticity as official texts, publicly created by the Colombian State, so they were taken from official government's websites. Additionally, I checked their authenticity in the official gazettes published by the government and the Congress.

Regarding the public speeches, I selected those relevant communicative events in which Duque develops his ideas around peace and legality, giving meaning to the legal documents before and after their enforcement. The official speeches of the president evidence the discursive practices related with the implementation of the Peace Agreement. Thus, these speeches are discourses in action, generating meaning in the real world and impacting the social field (Jorgensen & Phillips 2002).

Regarding the selection of tweets made by Álvaro Uribe Vélez and Iván Duque, I decided to use these communicative events because Twitter has expanded in Colombia during the last decade, becoming a relevant public space for debate. Politicians, institutions, organizations, public figures and other main actors of the legal and political fields express their opinions on different matters. Furthermore,

political discussions on Twitter relate to the most transcendental national issues and the media facilitates the politicians to reach their audience directly and immediately (Prada & Romero, 2019). As Veum & Undrum (2018) argue, analysis of social media channels like Twitter becomes relevant to understand the relationship between discourse and institutional power.

3.5.2. Data Analysis Considerations

Before presenting the results of the analysis I will clarify some methodological points. First, I decided to present the results in relation to the themes I found within "Peace with Legality". In the application of CDA, I follow up by showing how Duque signified peace as an outcome of legality. Additionally, he defined legality as the result of security and justice. Consequently, under these foundations, he coined the discourse of "Peace with Legality" to refer to the implementation of the Peace Agreement. Therefore, I chose to conceptualize those two themes.

Second, after having selected the "security" and "justice" themes, during the analysis I looked for interdiscursive and intertextual relations of "Peace with Legality". I found that in relation to security and justice "Peace with Legality" is linked with the previous discourses: "Democratic Security" and "Peace without Impunity". Furthermore, I analyzed the Peace Agreement, as a manifestation of the previous government official discourse, to find the connections and detachments with "Peace with Legality".

3.6. Ethical Considerations

This thesis follows the ethical guidelines and recommendations regarding proper research conduct provided by the Swedish Research Council (SRC, 2017). All the methodological, theoretical aspects and the analytical aspects were conducted according to the parameters established by the referred authority. The thesis does not use personal information or put anyone in danger. All the information used can be publicly accessed.

As a researcher I am positioning myself regarding the Peace Agreement. For over 8 years I have been working within the transitional justice institutions and mechanisms. Due to my work I got a deep insight into the crude reality of the victims of the armed conflict and how most of them are part of the historically social and political excluded. The Peace Agreement is an instrument that moved forward in the protection of their rights, gave them legitimacy and promoted access to better levels of truth, justice and reparations. After finishing my studies in Sweden, I will continue defending the victim's rights.

4. RESULTS

4.1. The "Peace with Legality" Foundations

4.1.1. Antecedents: Juan Manuel Santos Peace Agreement

In 2011 Juan Manuel Santos' government recognized the armed conflict and began the implementation of the transitional mechanisms appointed by the "Victims and Land Restitution Law". This law was the beginning of an official recognition of the political, economic and social factors that influenced the production and reproduction of violence in Colombia.

The "Victims and Land Restitution Law" was one of the main steps towards the initiation of the peace negotiations between the Farc-EP and Santos government in 2012, which led to the Peace Agreement in 2016 (Gómez, 2017). Thus, before Duque's presidency, the Colombian State was officially recognizing the armed conflict, therefore, its victims and the underlying historical, political and social origins. As Santos' second mandate's National Development Plan [2014-2018] stated: "The vision that the government has is to put peace in the center to end the **armed conflict**, the guarantee of the rights and the strengthening of the territorial peace" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (NDP 2014-2018).

The Peace Agreement explicitly acknowledges the political armed conflict, stating that its main goal is to end it, to promote reconciliation and a lasting and stable peace. Since the preamble, both parties recognized the intention of bringing that political conflict to an end:

"Recalling that the Havana dialogues between delegates from the National Government, led by President Juan Manuel Santos, and delegates from the Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia – People's Army, based on their mutual decision to bring the national **armed conflict** to an end (...)

(...) in the opinion of the National Government, the transformations that must be achieved when implementing this Agreement must play a part in reversing the effects of the **conflict** and in <u>changing the conditions that have</u> <u>led to the persistence of violence across the country</u>; and, in the opinion of the FARC-EP, such transformations must contribute to <u>resolving the</u> <u>historical causes of the conflict</u>, such as the unresolved issue of land ownership and, in particular, the concentration thereof, the exclusion of the rural population, and the underdevelopment of rural communities, which especially affects women, girls and boys [Emphasis mine] (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

The parties accorded to promote change and reached a settlement concerning a reform of historical, political, social and economic conditions, that have produced and reproduced the conflict. Since 2016, Juan Manuel Santos' government began to name the Peace Agreement's implementation "post-conflict", promoting the idea that the country was transitioning from war to peace. Under this view, having as a reference the mechanisms enshrined within the pact, the country was already going through the path of peacebuilding (Navarrete, 2018; Gómez, 2017). This is a holistic view of transitional justice that puts the victims in the center of the transition.

"We understand that a broad, genuine response to the rights of victims – **alongside the implementation of all the other agreements**, which also guarantee rights – forms the basis for justice" [Emphasis mine] (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

Additionally, the agreement was not only a pact between Juan Manuel Santos' government and the Farc-EP, it was incorporated into the State's law. The Congress approved the essential transitional mechanisms and institutional adjustments to guarantee its implementation, at the same time, recognizing the historical, political and social foundations contained in the Peace Agreement. The Legislative Act by which the Congress processed the constitutional reform to incorporate the pact says that its main goal is to:

"Create transitory dispositions within the Constitution **to the end of the armed conflict** and the construction of a durable and stable peace" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Congreso de Colombia, 2017).

The Agreement contains six points promoting legal and institutional reforms that aim to promote some of the structural changes needed to begin the transition from war to peace. In relation to justice, the Peace Agreement prevails restorative understandings of justice over retributive visions (Gómez, 2017). In the words of the Peace Agreement:

"The Comprehensive System places special emphasis on **restorative** and **reparative** measures, and seeks to achieve **justice not only through retributive sanctions**.

(...) Lastly, the comprehensive nature of the System contributes to laying the foundations for regaining trust, for coexistence in a peacebuilding scenario, and for a real reconciliation among all the Colombian people. **Restorative justice is primarily concerned** with the needs and dignity of the victims and is applied using a **holistic** approach that ensures justice, truth and guarantees of non-recurrence of what has occurred" [Emphasis mine] (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

During the negotiations, the Farc-EP advocated for complete amnesties regarding the severe crimes their members committed during the armed conflict. They were not going to be subdued to the retributive justice standards established by the International Criminal Law, the International Human Rights and the Humanitarian Law (Navarrete, 2018). Meanwhile the government was struggling to satisfy the majority of the public opinion claiming for severe punishment for the Farc-EP members. Summed to the State's international and constitutional obligation to guarantee the victims' rights to reparations, justice, truth, and non-repetition (Gómez, 2017: 248). After years of negotiations, in order to find a middle ground between this tension, Santos' government and the Farc-EP opted for an advisor group to design the justice mechanisms and institutions enshrined in the Agreement (Gómez, 2017: 249). According to Gómez (2017) the justice point of the Peace Agreement is the result of a balancing exercise between maximalist [severe punishment] and minimalist [amnesties] postures in relation to justice.

The mechanisms established by the Peace Agreement are a localized version of the mainstream justice approach promoted by the United Nations, the International Center for Transitional Justice and the International Criminal Court (Teitel, 2014: xii). Hence, the Peace Agreement created a Truth Commission, a Unit for the Search of Disappeared Persons and Special Jurisdiction for Peace, in order to guarantee the rights of the victims (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Teitel, 2014).

The justice mechanisms secure a certain level of retribution but prioritizing alternative punishments. Thus, imprisonment becomes a subsidiary sentence, focused on those who do not collaborate with the system, giving more relevance to integral reparations, truth and reconciliation in accordance to restorative justice principles. Beyond punishment, the Agreement seeks to guarantee the victims' rights, while facilitating the transition to peace, giving political and judicial benefits to those responsible for severe crimes who effectively collaborate with truth, reparations and non-repetition measures. This includes members of the Farc-EP, State armed forces and third civilian parties⁵ that have direct responsibility in the commission of war crimes (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

Furthermore, the Farc-EP obtained the benefit to become a political party and to participate in the electoral system while they were being judicialized. This attends to one of the structural issues that have produced and reproduced violence in Colombia: the historical political exclusion of the left within the constitutional

⁵ Just those civilians who voluntarily request to be processed by the transitional justice system established by the Peace Agreement (Corte Constitucional, 2017)

system. Hence, in consonance with the promotion of reconciliation and with the restorative approach of the Peace Agreement, the members of the Farc-EP currently have10 seats in the Congress and in the past elections [May 2019] several of its members ran for different positions in the local and regional governments (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

4.1.2. Duque as Candidate: "Peace Without Impunity"

Since the beginning of the Peace Dialogues Table in 2012, the commanders of the non-state organization stated that "they would not spend a single day in prison" (Gómez, 2017: 248). Using the negative from Farc-EP members to accept imprisonment punishment, the opposition to the peace process, promoted the "Peace Without Impunity" discourse. The discourse pretended to attack the whole negotiations, but it reduced the public discussion to the probable judicial punishment the parties were negotiating for massive human rights violations committed by the Farc-EP (Alviar García & Engel, 2016: 232).

"When they say that we cannot humiliate the FARC sending their commandants to prison, I ask why we humiliate justice with **impunity**" (Duque, 2014).

In December 2014, the party led by ex-president Álvaro Uribe Vélez, the "Democratic Center", promoted a national public protest against the peace negotiations. The manifestation gathered thousands of opponents to the conversations in several Colombian cities (Alviar García & Engel, 2016:231). According to their discourse, Santos' government was not guaranteeing any punishment to the Farc-EP "terrorists" for their crimes, instead they were being rewarded with political participation and impunity.

"Top **FARC** commandants, responsible for massacres, car bombs, there is no prison, is enough recognition even without regret: is not that **impunity** (Uribe, 2016). The use of impunity served well to promote the idea that the Farc-EP had submitted the State: as they are not being punished with prison for their crimes and they can participate in politics, therefore Santos had surrendered to them. Furthermore, the "Democratic Center" used the idea that the Armed Forces were being dishonored and that Santos, by negotiating the Agreement, was equalizing the Farc-EP "terrorists" to the "homeland heroes" (Uribe, 2016).

"President Santos is not only putting in the same level the Armed Forces to the **terrorism**, he is also imposing their subjection to the Farc-EP **impunity**" (Uribe, 2014).

The systematic opposition exercised by the "Democratic Center" during the four years of the negotiations exhibited its fruitful results on October 02, 2016, when the "No" won the national plebiscite to approve or reject the Peace Agreement by a very close turnout. Amongst other factors, the negative vote won thanks to the promotion of the "Peace Without Impunity" (Gómez, 2017: 252).

After the "No" won the plebiscite, President Juan Manuel Santos asked the "Democratic Center" and the leaders of the opposition to send their claims to the Habana negotiations table to renegotiate some of the points. The parties changed several parts of the Agreement, but they maintained all of the substantial mechanisms previously settled, keeping the prison as subsidiary punishment. Therefore, the modifications were not enough for the "Democratic Center", so they continued promoting the same discourse afterwards. As a presidential candidate, Iván Duque Márquez repeated the same argument promoted by "Peace Without Impunity".

"We must be very firm against **terrorism**. We are defending the interests of the majority of honest Colombians who deserve a **peace without impunity**" (Duque, 2017).

"During the past 8 years, the worst mistake committed in Colombia was to have divided the country between enemies and friends of the peace. We all want peace, but a **peace without impunity**, the Rule of Law triumph over criminality" (Duque, 2018a)

This discussion around punishment reduced the complex debate of the Peace Process and the final Peace Agreement to the punishment Farc-EP members could have obtained. Consequently, the essence of the six points of the agreement, which aim to change some of the structural social and political issues that have produced violence in Colombia, was pushed aside of the public discussion. As Alviar García and Engel (2016) found in their research, the impunity discourse has effectively been used in peace processes in Colombia to put aside the larger discussions around the social structural problems that have long contributed to armed conflict; namely land distribution, rural poverty and exclusion or political participation.

4.2. Duque as President: "Peace with Legality" Discourse

4.2.1. Legality, Security and Justice

Since Duque was running for president, he established the foundations of what his government defines as peace and legality. Thus, in order to understand how his government signifies "Peace with Legality", first, I selected the elections' victory and the inaugural address speeches to comprehend the bases of this discourse. These two communicative events define the foundation of how Duque's government relates to the implementation of the Peace Agreement.

On June 17, 2018, Iván Duque, candidate of the "Democratic Center", won the presidential elections obtaining 53,98% of the votes against Gustavo Petro Urrego, the independent center-left candidate, who polled 41,81%. Before the elections, the country was highly polarized and, as shown by Prada and Romero (2018), within the media and the public opinion both candidates were portrayed as opposites. Petro supported the Peace Agreement while Duque represented the sector of society that rejected it and voted "No" in 2016's plebiscite (Alviar García & Engel, 2017; Navarrete, 2018; Gómez, 2017).

"More than a dignifying agreement for the FARC, we want a dignifying peace for Colombians. That is why we defend the **peace** with the **rule of law without impunity**" (Duque, 2015).

After consistently having opposed to the Peace Dialogues Table and the Peace Agreement, Duque won the elections when the pact had just begun its implementation. The juncture in which Duque was elected [those first years of implementation of transitional justice mechanisms], according to Baker & Obradovic-Wochnic (2016), are crucial to consolidate a post-conflict scenario and to construct reconciliation. Transitional justice, understood as a peacebuilding process, can become a path to peace by reforming political, social and economic institutions. Thus, changing the existing structural conditions that lead to conflict. Peacebuilding is the "alteration of what existed before" and therefore transition (Baker & Obradovic-Wochnic, 2016: 287).

The previous context is important to understand Duque's victory speech, transmitted live the same day he won the elections on national television. In his victory speech the President appealed to the end of the polarization and the construction of the "so longed peace" (Duque, 2018a). Thus, it could appear that he was taking a discursive turn on the systematic opposition that he and the "Democratic Center" did during the Peace Process. Now, as elected candidate, he indicated the will to construct peace. Nevertheless, the peace he was talking about has a different meaning compared to what is enshrined in the Peace Agreement. For Duque peace needs to come from legality, and legality can be achieved bringing security and justice.

"When we talk about the legality that we desire, the **peace** is also in between, because the peace of Colombia is a wish we all have (...) we must guarantee that the peace is for all Colombians, beginning with **security** and **justice** as the indicated sisters so hope shines throughout the whole national territory" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2018a).

"when we talk about those challenges that can be found in **legality**, we must also assume a biggest one, which is, in every corner, build the dream of **security** hand by hand with **justice**" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2018a).

Hence, according to Duque, peace is the result of legality and legality is a consequence of security and justice (Duque, 2018a). Amongst the many views on peace, Duque opted to a perspective focused on a securitized view on legality. In accordance to this, he has been reiterative in claiming that legality will be brought by the armed forces, as they are providers of security and justice:

"To the Colombians, I want to reaffirm that we will continue guaranteeing **Legality**, **Security** and **Justice** in all parts of the national territory. Our **Armed Forces** have all the capacities (...)" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2019b).

For Duque's government, the State and its armed forces are the institutions in charge of ending violence. According to what he defines as legality, the enforcement of the law signified as security and justice, will bring peace (Duque, 2018a). This is one of the core connotations attached to "Peace with Legality", which represents a major change in the institutional discourse promoted by former President Juan Manuel Santos, who officialized the idea of peace as the result of a transition from war to peace throughout a post-conflict scenario.

4.3. Security

4.3.1. Security as in Democratic Security: The Links to our Past.

"Peace with Legality" founds a direct connection with the "Democratic Security" discourse promoted by Álvaro Uribe Vélez. Achieving peace throughout the implementation of security was the discourse used by ex-president Álvaro Uribe Vélez, Duque's political leader and the main figure within the "Democratic Centre" (Centro Democrático, 2020; Gómez, 2017). During his government [2002-2010],

Uribe implemented the "Democratic Security", which was a violent form of an alleged peacebuilding connected to the excessive State's coercive power. According to Acosta (2006: 25), the "Democratic Security" policy is an ultraconservative project that seeks for the strengthening of the "ruler" figure, based on authority, with the consequent expectancy of obedient citizens.

During his victory speech, Duque stated that security is a "democratic" value which must go back.

"Security must go back to our city streets, must go back to Colombian rural areas, because security means not violence, **security** is a **democratic** value which allows us to construct a better society, where we can be without fear, and a society free of fear is a society in real **peace**" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2018a).

Aside from defining **security** as a **democratic** value, he argues that, in practice, it will lead to the absence of violence. Furthermore, he connects democracy and security in the same statement, linked to the idea of "going back" to security in the rural and urban Colombia. The idea of going back and the link to security and democracy recalls the "Democratic Security" deployed by Uribe's government. According to Galindo Hernández (2005), the implementation of this policy promotes a security status quo that, paradoxically, leads to the weakening of the core values promoted by a democratic system, namely the defense and promotion of human rights and popular sovereignty (Galindo Hernández, 2005; Uribe, 2013). The official government's data shows that, during Uribe's "Democratic Security", between 2002 and 2010, there were 50.000 forced disappearances, 117.000 homicides, 967 massacres, 56.000 life threats, 3.520 tortures (Unidad de Víctimas, 2020).

Under this concept, democracy is not in line with the idea of constructing a social order that protects and benefits all citizens (Galindo Hernández, 2005: 537). On the contrary, it is based on the notion of supposedly eradicating violence with the use of the State's violence. Hence, through the deployment of the armed forces:

National Police and the Army (Acosta, 2006: 25; Moreno Torres, 2012). After 6 years of Uribe's government, the security and defense national budget increased from 5,3% of the total to 8% in 2008. Moreover, this augmented percentage reflects in the increase of the Armed Forces active members, which went from 297.825 in 2002 to 416.847 in 2008 (Vargas, 2009: 113). Uribe's government did not recognize the armed conflict, deploying extensive military and police action in order to eradicate what he considered the "enemies" of the homeland, terrorists: the left-wing guerrillas, like the Farc-EP (Vargas, 2009: 116).

As shown in the section on the opposition's "Peace Without Impunity", Duque and his political party have systematically portrayed the ex Farc-EP members as "terrorists". Nowadays, outlined by the "Peace with Legality" securitized vision, they are enemies of the country that challenge legality. Uribe, as the leader of the "Democratic Center", continues promoting the same discourse. On January 21, 2019, Uribe tweeted a meme retweeted more than three thousand times and liked by more than six thousand people showing how other countries supposedly punish terrorism:



Image 1. Uribe Tweet January 21, 2019

⁽Uribe, 2019)

The copied tweet from Álvaro Uribe Vélez says: "Punishments for terrorism in the world: Russia: Capital Punishment; China: Capital Punishment; USA: Life Sentence or Capital Punishment; England: Life Sentence; Germany: Life Sentence; Colombia: Amnesty, Seat in Congress, possibility to be president and lifetime salary".

This portrayal is highly problematic, as it becomes a fuel for the "Democratic Security" policy-like approach that Duque seems to be replicating within his 'Peace with Legality" discourse. This translates into the prospective re-securitization of government's policies, including the boosting of the armed forces' capacity and resources, which has proven counterproductive in ensuring and promoting peace (Lemaitre & Restrepo, 2018).

4.3.2. From Armed Conflict to Criminal Activities: Stabilization Instead of Postconflict

One of the main discursive practices revealing the distance between the security significance within "Peace with Legality" and the Peace Agreement is avoiding calling the political violence "armed conflict". Duque's government approach addresses it as a different phenomenon to what the State had already recognized in 2011 by the "Victim's and Land Restitution Law" and by the constitutional norms that incorporated the agreement.

However, for the "Democratic Center" and its members, the country is not transiting from an armed conflict to a post-conflict scenario, as it was claimed by Juan Manuel Santos' official government's discourse (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Duque, 2017). On the contrary, since the presidential campaign, Duque has associated the idea of peace with security and stability. In this sense, Navarrete (2018) and Rowen (2017) have already shown how transitional justice has always been a contested space in Colombia, where every actor uses different discourses in order to promote their agendas. As a presidential candidate, while opposing to the peace agreements, Duque wrote a column in national newspaper, saying:

"Colombia is paying the consequences of the bad agreement signed with the Farc-EP, which has affected the **institutional stability** and is structurally threatening national **security**, the **justice**" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2017).

Since the elections, Duque and the "Democratic Center" did not recognize the armed conflict. Thus, nowadays, this government does not refer anymore to "post-conflict" scenario, which had a symbolic effect amongst the Peace Agreement stakeholders, implying that its implementation phase was leading to progressively ceasing the political violence (Bourdieu, 1991: 166; Gómez, 2017; Navarrete, 2018). In contrast, what Duque and the "Democratic Center" did was replacing the category "armed conflict" with "instability". In this scenario security is supposed to deliver the promised peace to Colombians, through armed forces and police authority. As an opposite to "post-conflict", he uses the word "stabilization", which moves the peace discourse towards security (Presidencia de la República, 2018).

Changing the institutional discourse from an official acceptance of the deep political and social roots of war in Colombia into a securitized issue, detaches the current government discursive practice from the established order of discourse settled by the Peace Agreement. The pact between the former government and the Farc-EP recognizes some of the deep political roots of violence in Colombia, while legitimizing both parties to implement the six points (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Acosta, 2018). The lack of recognition of the political, historical and social origins underlying Colombian violence, turning it into a matter of legality [understood as a lack of security], has produced institutional and policy changes. For example, in the introduction to his security and defense policy [January 2019], which promotes "stabilization" via the armed forces as the providers of legality, Duque states:

"A policy based on the force of **legality** will stimulate the citizens to follow the coexistence rules, meanwhile it severely sanctions those who violate them and makes them the object of reproach. (...) **Respect for the law**, rejection of crime and criminals, as well as the creation of a legality culture is fundamental to **security**" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2019b).

Due to this discursive change, one of the most visible institutional changes Duque made to the public offices in charge of the implementation of the Peace Agreement, was reforming the office of "Senior Presidential Advisor for the Post-conflict" for the "Presidential Office for Stabilization and Consolidation" by presidential decree (Decree 672, 2017; Decree 179, 2019). During Santos' administration, this office was in charge of the articulation and the promotion of the policies for a post-conflict scenario, in synchrony with the Peace Agreement's six points. Contrarily, in the presidential decree that enforced the modification, Duque not only modified the office's name, but he extracted the core discourse of transition through post-conflict, changing it to the "stabilization" discourse (Decree 179, 2019: art.19).

On December 17, 2018, the "Presidential Office for Stabilization and Consolidation" launched the "Peace with Legality" policy. The office's director general gave a press release and outlined the policy that will be implemented in relation to the Peace Agreement. In the whole policy document, there is not a single reference to the armed conflict or to the post-conflict scenario. The policy is the materialization of the pretension to implant a new order of discourse, replacing "post-conflict" with "stabilization" (Officina Presidencial para la Estabilización y Consolidación, 2018). This discursive twist, while saying that they are implementing the agreements in their own terms, facilitates the securitized vision on society. Furthermore, according to the Minister of Defense who designed Duque's "Security and Defense Policy" in 2019:

"Our **Armed Forces** will be the engine of the **stabilization** in the regions" [Introduction to the Security and Defense Policy] [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Botero, 2019).

The context in which this discursive change happens is marked by the continuity of the conflict. Despite the Peace Agreement and the effective demobilization of most of the Farc-EP combatants, its intensity has increased in the past three years. Since 2016 more than 555 social leaders have been killed while defending, amongst other causes, the Peace Agreement in different regions of Colombia (Defensoría del Pueblo, 2020). Moreover, according to the FARC political party⁶, there have been more than 185 demobilized combatants murdered since the Peace Agreement was signed (OHCHR, 2020). Additionally, according to the United Nations, during 2019 there were 34 massacres, 25.000 persons were forcibly displaced from their territory, and many other human rights violations committed by several non-state armed organizations competing with the State's power.

Aside from the interdiscursive relationship between "Peace with Legality" and "Democratic Security", Duque's discursive link between peace and legality can be seen as a way of implementing the Peace Agreement using an acceptable rhetoric within the Colombian legal framework. However, it works as a way out from some of its core discursive elements. Linking it with legality, immediately focus the government's vision on peace with their own understanding of legality, which is a matter of security and justice. This discourse has installed the vision of "stabilization", removing the idea of a post-conflict society going through the transition to peace from the official State's narrative.

On August 21, 2019, Duque's Minister of Defense announced that the government is increasing the security and defense budget by 6,3% (El Tiempo, 2019). In contrast, according to the report made by the members of the Congress opposing to the current administration, the budget related to the implementation of the Peace Agreement was severely reduced for 2020 (Congreso de la República de Colombia, 2019: 34). In a report called "How is the Agreement Going?", they analyzed the budget destined to the implementation of all the six points of the pact, finding that the government is reducing the budget of each of them (Congreso de la República

⁶ The FARC party is the extinct Farc-EP guerrilla political organization, created as a result from the Peace Agreement. They transformed from a non-state armed rebellious organization into a political institution. They decided to keep the same acronym they used as their battleground name. They changed from the "Revolutionary Armed Forces of Colombia-People's Army" [Farc-EP, in Spanish] to "The Common Alternative Revolutionary Force" [FARC, in Spanish].

de Colombia, 2019). Moreover, comparing this reduction to the military expenditure increase, Duque's "Peace with Legality" moves apart of a society going through a transitional process to peace. It seems to build up a securitized society via "stabilization" rather than a "post-conflict scenario" that seeks to change some of the structural causes that produced and reproduce it.

4.3.3. "Peace with Legality" and Security: Exclusion in the Context of Peacebuilding

The construction of a securitized version of peacebuilding, namely "Peace with Legality", is the replacement of "post-conflict", as a transitional moment to change the violent status quo, by "stabilization". The latter produces the exclusion of those previously recognized by the agreement as legitimate political actors.

If the official discourse no longer recognizes the armed conflict, the Farc-EP and the victims, actors who gained recognition with the Peace Agreement will also find exclusion within the government practices. They are no longer recognized as valid political and historical actors, as part of a 50 years armed conflict. Within "Peace with Legality" the victims are not part of a peacebuilding process, in which they should be at the center and society should be moving forward to favor their rights to truth, justice, reparations and non-repetition (Cubides, 2018: 184). The discourse of "Peace with Legality" as it promotes a securitized approach, turns the institutional focus to the different version of peace promoted by the opposition to the Peace Agreements, which denies the armed conflict and delegates the armed forces the construction of "stability", rather than transiting through a post-conflict scenario.

The underlying narrative is similar to the one contained within the "Peace Without Impunity" discourse, promoted by the "Democratic Center" members since 2014. This discourse challenges the political status recognized to the Farc-EP by the Peace Process and the posterior Peace Agreement. For them, the nowadays demobilized guerrilla were "terrorists", therefore it is not possible to provide them a political status.

"Why are we surprised that **Farc** asks not to be called **terrorists**, if in effect the government already is doing that and calls them **political actors**" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Uribe, 2014a).

Under "Peace with Legality", the ex-combatants and the members of the FARC political party are now discursively constructed under an exclusionary discourse, no longer framed as legitimate political actors but in the backdoor of the "Peace with Legality" discourse. In contrast, in the post-conflict scenario proposed by Juan Manuel Santos' government, they were recognized as a political project, which due to the Peace Agreement handed their weapons to participate within the Constitutional regime as a political party (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016).

"The political party "FARC", which has the acronym of the **terrorist** organization that bled out Colombia, challenged the country and its? legality" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2017a).

The previous successful peace processes in Colombia, between the State and leftist guerrilla organizations, have been fruitful, because they have included the guarantee of political participation of those traditionally excluded actors (Uprimny, 2014). For example, the M-19 guerrilla demobilization in the nineties lead to their immediate political participation as members of the Constitutional Assembly that redacted the current 1991 Constitution (Alviar García & Engel, 2016: 218). Therefore, if "Peace with Legality" takes off this core element of peacebuilding in Colombia, directly related with the political structural factors that have produced and reproduced violence, the country is not moving towards any peace (McEvoy, 2007; Nagy, 2008).

As previous research made by McEvoy (2007) and Lemaitre & Restrepo (2018) showed, Colombia has a deeply rooted legalist culture. Connecting "legality" to "peace" seems to have the symbolic power to incorporate law to the discussion of peacebuilding without really changing anything in practice. The concept of *magical legalism*, developed by McEvoy (2007), finds a place in order to analyze "Peace with Legality".

According to this author: "the notion of magical legalism speaks directly to the disconnection between the 'real world' in some transitional societies and the plethora of 'law talk' which often characterize debates amongst the political elites" (McEvoy, 2007:419). McEvoy (2007) refers to the Colombian case arguing how the power elite's discourses instrumentalize human rights law and discuss reality throughout the lenses of legality, without changing the conditions that generate violence. It seems like the "Peace with Legality" discourse has given the current ruling elites, those represented by the "Democratic Center", the power to hide the fact that they are not dealing with the institutional changes, policies and mechanisms established in the agreement (McEvoy, 2007; Lemaitre & Restrepo, 2018).

Furthermore, the limitations of the law as a neutral mediator in this scenario can be observed when power elites that historically have held positions of dominance must implement transitional justice. The construction of law as a neutral mediator for the transitions to peace is contested by the discursive practices associated with "Peace with Legality". Duque represents one of the sectors of those power elites that did not want the inclusion of the Farc-EP or the victims within the political system (Leebaw, 2008). Thus, as McEvoy (2007) argues, if the elites that have produced violence are the ones in charge of the implementation of the transition, law will evidence its malleability and may favor the continuity of the factors that have produced violence.

4.4. From Restorative Justice to Retributive Justice

As previously shown, Duque is not referring to "post-conflict" scenario, understood as a transition to peace, guided by the mechanisms established in the Peace Agreement. Instead, he refers to "stabilization", arguing that legality, as an outcome of security and justice, will bring peace. "Peace with Legality", along with its securitized vision of society, is directly connected with the idea of bringing peace with a retributive justice vision: law enforcement and punishment. "Colombians, we, all together, must build **peace** and to do that we have to count on the culture of **legality**, based on the essential premise that if within a society **security and justice** go hand by hand, and guarantees **law enforcement**, there would not be a chance to violence to threaten individual freedoms" [Own translation. Emphasis mine] (Duque, 2018d).

In relation to justice, "Peace with legality" is directly linked to "Peace Without Impunity". One of the discourses that successfully led to the "No" victory in the plebiscite by promoting the idea that the Peace Agreement did not stipulate hard enough punishment for the Farc-EP. The discourse adapted its content from the political opposition against the agreements to the official government narrative. During his public speeches, Duque has insisted that peace cannot be constructed with impunity.

"Colombia wants to construct the **peace**, a #**PeaceWithLegality**, without impunity, trustworthy and solid. This peace starts when crimes like those committed in the 'Escuela General Santander' don't stay in impunity" (Duque, 2020).

The notion of justice underlying this narrative can be defined as retributive, which constitutes an opposed vision to what was settled in the Habana. According to Wenzel et al (2008:375) retributive justice conceive punishment as a proportional humiliation or pain to the one caused by the perpetrator. Within this view, justice will be satisfied once a punitive sanction is imposed to the offender.

In direct contrast, the Peace Agreement settled a narrative around restorative justice as the path through reconciliation. It established transitional justice mechanisms based on the collaboration within the system of those accountable for the human rights violations, and imprisonment punishment is subsidiary. Restorative justice focuses in repairing the damages, putting the victims at the center, instead of seeking punishment. It promotes processes based on constructive reparations and communication. Thus, in transitional processes it works as a framework to build reconciliation after the structural rupture of social threat caused by armed conflict (República de Colombia, Ley 1957 de 2019; Uprimny et al, 2014)

According to Duque, justice as part of legality means that "El que la hace la paga", which could be translated to something like "Who made it, must pay for it". This expresses a punitive vision of society enshrined in direct relation to legality as security and justice.

(...) as the commander in chief of the **Armed Forces**, and with collaboration of the **judicial authorities**, we will act on all the national territory and we will dismantle the organized crime networks, bring them to justice, enforcing the principle of **'who made it, must pay for it'**" [Emphasis mine. Own translation] (Duque, 2018b).

"One of the flagship policies of our government is legality. Telling the criminals: **'who made it, must pay for it'**" [Emphasis mine. Own translation] (Duque, 2018g).

"Peace with Legality" constitutes the State's official narrative that moves away from the implementation of the Peace Agreement, while giving the appearance of being framed within the juridical system. In relation to justice, the discourse detours from the idea of restorative mechanisms to build a transition to reconciliation. The punitive approach within Duque's discourse takes an opposite turn.

Within the policy document defining the main aspects related with "Peace with Legality" and within the National Development Plan [2018-2020], the government detaches from its collaborative role with the transitional justice established in the Peace Agreement. These documents claim that the executive branch must only respect its functioning and act with neutrality.

"**Transitional Justice** is part of the jurisdictional branch of public power. To that extent, the Executive is mainly responsible for respecting its independence and, within the applicable constitutional and legal canons, ensuring **neutrality** in its actions" [Emphasis mine] (Presidential Office for Stabilization, 2018).

According to the NDP 2018-2022 and the "Peace with Legality" policy documents, the government officially assumes a passive posture, just "respecting" the independence of the Special Jurisdiction for Peace, as a transitional mechanism operating under the judicial branch. Nevertheless, the position of the government has not been neutral in relation to the Peace Agreement, including its justice system. Since his inaugural address, Duque stated that he was going to promote correctives to the agreement, because they were based on impunity.

"(...) by the citizen mandate we have received, we will deploy [sic] **correctives** to assure the victims with truth, proportional justice, also that they receive the effective reparations and that there is not repetition [of the violence] in any place of the territory (...) they will be assaulted by **impunity**" (Duque, 2018d).

"The administration of Justice in the Special Jurisdiction for Peace is necessary in this historical effort to achieve a '**peace well done**', and to assure there would not be **impunity**" (Duque, 2019a)

Arguing that he was aiming for a justice "well done", without impunity, Duque's administration presented six legal objections to the Special Jurisdiction for Peace Statutory Law. The norm enforces the transitional justice mechanisms of the Peace Agreement and gives constitutional validity to all its procedures. It regulates the rights of the victims, the rights and obligations of the processed, and the State's obligations in order to guarantee the adequate implementation of its restorative justice mechanisms. The Law has established the restorative justice as its main goal:

"To facilitate the termination of the **armed conflict** and the achievement of lasting and stable peace. (...) The Special Jurisdiction for Peace will implement the **restorative justice** as guiding paradigm, which aims to privilege harmony; the victim's reestablishment of the social relations, the

restauration of the caused damages and the guarantee of the future generation's rights" [Emphasis Mine. Own Translation] (República de Colombia, Ley 1957 de 2019).

The presidential objections to the Law were received by the public opinion and the majority of the Congress as a way of attacking the transitional justice mechanisms (France 24, 2019; El Tiempo, 2019). Moreover, the Constitutional Court responded to the government that the objections did not proceed, and that Duque must respect that -by a majority- the Congress rejected the objections. Thus, Duque had to enact it in the upcoming days. He responded that he accepted the Court's decision as a Colombian and as a Defensor of "legality" (France 24, 2019).

In relation to justice, "Peace with Legality" is the officialization of the opposition's "Peace Without Impunity" discourse. The constant references to punishment and retributive principles are Duque's government maneuver to move away from the implementation of the Peace Agreement's restorative approach. Opting for a retributive approach to justice can be problematic to be able to create the conditions for peacebuilding through a successful transition (McEvoy, 2007; Ní Aoláin, 2013; Nagy, 2018).

The following table shows the discourses, the themes and the associated discourses I found during the analysis:

Discourse	Themes	Associated Themes	Associated
			Discourse
Peace with Legality	Legality: - Security - Justice	 → Stability/Instability → Illegality → Impunity → Retributive Justice → Criminality 	 → Democratic Security → Peace Without Impunity
Peace Agreement	 Armed conflict Post-conflict Transitional Justice 	→ Restorative Justice→ Reconciliation	→ Peace

Table 2. Discourses and themes

[Own elaboration]

5. DISCUSSION

The aim of this investigation was to critically analyze the "Peace with Legality" discourse, which is used by the current Colombian government, when referring to the implementation of the Peace Agreement. I found a gap in academic research concerning this discourse, which I think is crucial to understanding the discourses and practices that Duque's administration has undertaken in the past two years. In the following paragraphs I will discuss the results with a critical perspective, using the theoretical framework.

The Peace Agreement is the product of a dialogue between the Farc-EP and Juan Manuel Santos government. It also collects claims from different actors, like the victims, the Farc-EP, the international community or the opposition. The agreement aligns with the *bureaucratized* model of transitional justice, which proposes a complex application political and judicial mechanisms, accompanied by legal reform, in order to produce a transitable scenario from war to peace. The *bureaucratic model* produces a highly "legalized" process, where the "law" - understood as a neutral mechanism- do not necessarily solve the social structural problems, thus replicating previous social injustices that led to violence (Bell, 2008; Sharp, 2015).

This scenario needs radical transformations of the social structures that have historically produced and reproduced the violence (Sharp, 2015). Summed to the justice mechanisms, the agreement promotes some of those structural changes regarding rural reform, political participation of the excluded, and an alternative to solve the illegal drugs trafficking problem (Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas, 2015; Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016, Gómez, 2017).

Discussions around transitional justice and peacebuilding in Colombia are part of a contested field. However, this research shows how political elites have privileged access to define those categories, imposing their views from their power position (Fairclough 1999; Rowen, 2017). During the Habana negotiations the "Democratic Center", led by Álvaro Uribe Vélez, used the "Peace Without Impunity" discourse

to oppose to the dialogues and the agreement settled by Juan Manuel Santos and the Farc-EP. "Peace Without Impunity" promoted the idea that Santos was negotiating the State's submission to the Farc-EP, equalizing the Armed Forces to the "terrorists" of the guerrilla organization that they had fought for over 50 years. Additionally, the discourse focused on the alleged impunity given to the Farc-EP top commanders, claiming that the agreement did not contemplate enough punishment on them. As Alviar García and Engle (2016) have shown, moving the focus of the discussion to impunity serves to avoid the debate about the structural causes that have produced and reproduced the conflict.

After leading the opposition to the Peace Dialogues Table and the Peace Agreement, the "Democratic Center" won the presidential elections. Iván Duque Márquez, the elected president for the period 2018-2020, has been using his position to institutionalize the opposition's discourse in relation to the Peace Agreement. Even though the agreement has a constitutional and legal framework that supports its implementation, Duque's discursive practices have been moving away from its essential paradigms. Duque's government has been setting the conditions to move towards a securitized society based on retribution and punishment (Duque, 2018a, 2018c, 2019).

Duque found a suitable rhetoric to oppose the Peace Agreement using the "Peace with Legality" discourse. Connecting "legality" to "peace" allowed his administration to appear attached to the Peace Agreement but in practice stepping away from its implementation. The government hardly publicly mentions the Peace Agreement in their speeches and the underlying discourse of achieving peace through legality moves Duque's government away from its implementation.

5.1. Denying the Armed Conflict: from a "Post-conflict" Scenario to "Stabilization"

Duque's government policies changed from building a "post-conflict" scenario as a way to transit from war to peace, into a "stability" scenario. Therefore, within Duque's peace policy, the idea of a political conflict vanishes, turning it into a matter of security in order to achieve "stabilization" of violent phenomena linked to criminality. Within Duque's discourse, stabilization translates into the growth of the military and the deployment of the armed forces to contest criminal violence. For Duque, legality comes from the realization of security and justice. Legality, according to him, will bring peace (Duque 2018, 2018a, 2018b). This change was materialized by changing the Peace Agreement's acceptance of the armed conflict, therefore its victims, its political, social and historical structural causes.

Duque has promoted the idea of going back to security as a "democratic value", which has a direct link to the policy implemented by Álvaro Uribe Vélez [2002-2010], Duque's political leader, during his eight years presidency. This policy, called "Democratic Security", led to the weakening of the core values promoted by a democratic system, namely the defense and promotion of human rights and popular sovereignty. Uribe also denied the armed conflict and promoted the State's violence as the solution to the violence (Galindo Hernández, 2005).

Within the security element of legality, there is a change from the binaries "armed conflict"/ "post-conflict" to "instability"/ "stabilization". This relates to what Lemaitre & Restrepo (2018) have shown within the Colombian context: violence that can be hidden behind a legality mask. Law enforcement can be used to produce violence and not necessarily to solve it. The securitized vision enshrined within "Peace with Legality" is a way to legitimize the use of the violence of the State to "stabilize" and supposedly end that violence.

In Colombia, the consequences of deploying the military and the police, as a form of understanding legality, have conducted to the reproduction of the violence (Vargas, 2009: 113). Attached to the recognition of the armed conflict, the discursive diversion from the Peace Agreement also removes the essential idea of a society going through a transition to peace. The essence of that transition is marked by the recognition of the political conflict, and the Peace Agreement is a framework that draws the path to end it. According to van Dijk, the social organizations of power are a result of hierarchal structures. Within these institutions, like the government, members of the elites have the possibility to control and enact the power of dominance (van Dijk, 1993). The power given by their privileged position facilitates the possibility of those elites to establish new discourses or sustain the old discursive orders, which results in the continuity of structural conditions of exclusion. Thus, changing the official discourse into a problem of security: stability/instability, takes away the political significance achieved by the agreement. It removes one of the most important structural reforms promoted by the pact: the inclusion of those historically excluded from the political system: the victims and the FARC political party. "Peace with Legality" proposes a new order of discourse which produces the exclusion of those who obtained recognition as a result of the Peace Agreement and its incorporation to the legal system (Duque 2015, 2018a, 2019).

5.2. Changing the Justice Paradigm

Duque's justice discourse within "Peace with Legality" promotes a retributive approach, moving far away from the agreement's justice approach to peace and reconciliation. The Peace Agreement established a prevalence of the restorative justice paradigm over the retributive. Within the pact's narrative, the goal to achieve peace and reconciliation is mediated by transitional justice mechanisms, which promote reparation to the caused damages, the truth as a constructive communicative process, and the guarantee of non-repeating the violent phenomena (Gobierno de Colombia & Farc-EP, 2016; Gómez, 2017).

Duque's implementation of a marked punitive vision of justice was already settled since the "Democratic Centre" promotion of the opposition's discourse to the agreement "Peace Without Impunity". Hence, "Peace with Legality" is the institutionalization of the opposition's discourse to the Peace Agreement (Duque, 2018d; Uribe, 2015, 2019). The replacement of "restorative justice" for "impunity", moves the discussion of the complexities behind the transitional justice mechanisms to a limited version of it. For instance, the idea that the Peace Agreement is the State's submission to Farc-EP. This focus on impunity, also diverts the public

debate attention from the structural needed transformations into the punitive aspects of transitional justice (Alviar García & Engel, 2016).

The main transitional justice mechanisms and institutions established in the Peace Agreement, as part of the bureaucratic holistic model, pursue the implementation of international human rights and criminal laws in order to bring justice to the victims of the armed conflict (Teitel, 2014; Uprimny, 2014; Turner 2015). In this sense, the concept of *magical legalism* can be applied to the case of "Peace with Legality" as an instrumentalization of the "law talk" (McEvoy, 2007). Iván Duque and the "Democratic Center" members are sidetracking from the Peace Agreement's proposed social transformations and justice mechanisms, while performing a "legality" narrative. Thus, they use the idea of applying international human rights law and ending impunity, while in practice diverting from it (Uribe, 2014, 2014a, 2019; Duque, 2017, 2018b, 2018c). As McEvoy (2007) argues, the "law talk" allows these elites to disconnect from the "real world" and promote the needed changes to end violence.

6. CONCLUSIONS

While moving away from the idea of a post-conflict scenario, "Peace with Legality" twists the implementation of the agreements into a process of stabilization. It portrays a securitized vision which promotes a notion of legality that denies those structural causes of the armed conflict recognized in the agreement and focuses on revenge and punishment. A securitized vision of society that changes the idea of peacebuilding established by the Peace Agreement, where the country was moving towards a reconciliation and post-conflict scenario. With the current government's securitized discourse, this idea turned into a problem of criminality and violence that needs to be solved by the deployment of armed forces. This paradigmatic discursive change limits the implementation of the agreement and leads the country backwards to an already executed security approach, the "Democratic Security".

Colombian transition to peace will hardly succeed if the members of political elites continue exercising their dominant position over the excluded. Within Duque's discourse, the victims are no longer suffering the consequences of a political, social and historical conflict, struggling to satisfy their rights to truth, reparations, justice and non-repetition. Meanwhile the Farc-EP members, portrayed as terrorists and enemies of the State, get confronted and find institutional barriers to be recognized as valid political actors within the Constitutional regime. Or even get killed by the hundreds.

"Peace with Legality" is the officialization of the retributive justice paradigm over the restorative justice approach in relation with Colombian transition to peace. It rather promotes revenge and makes it difficult to implement the transitional justice mechanisms established in the agreement. Moreover, the government has only recognized the transitional justice mechanisms as part of the new constitutional framework that they must respect. The Special Jurisdiction for Peace, according to "Peace with Legality", is just another institution within the judicial branch and the executive have to let work independently. However, Duque and his party have systematically argued that this transitional justice mechanisms produce impunity. In accordance to this, in April 2019, he objected the Statutory Law and denied its enforcement.

"Peace with Legality" stagnates the step forward promoted by the Peace Agreement's reforms and mechanisms. The change of discourse finds a place within the Colombian legalist culture that has constructed the imaginary of legality as the provider of "civilization" over "barbarism". Furthermore, it works as a mask to hide the fact that Duque's government is stepping aside from the implementation of the structural changes and the transitional justice mechanisms established in the agreement.

Further Research

The results of this thesis were limited to security and justice as discursive themes within "Peace with Legality". However, the discourse is frequently used by Duque to refer to other elements of the Peace Agreement, namely the demobilized Farc-EP members' reintegration process (point 3), the illicit drugs problem (point 4) or the transitional justice institutions and the victims' rights (point 5). Hence, this research can be a starting point to investigate other practices executed by Duque's government in relation with "Peace with Legality"

Therefore, this investigation can be used as an initial step to analyze the different discourses and practices connected with "Peace with Legality". For example: empirical research on how the efforts of officials working within the Special Jurisdiction for Peace or the Commission of Truth have been affected by this discourse and its practices. Furthermore, how the victims or the Farc-EP ex combatants have experienced the current government's official discourse, which does not recognize the armed conflict and removed their legitimacy as valid political actors. Thus, how this new discursive practice has affected their political participation exercise within the constitutional institutions.

7. REFERENCES

Data

Documents

- Gobierno de Colombia and FARC-EP (2016). Acuerdo Final. Available at: http://especiales. presidencia.gov.co/Documents/20170620-dejacionarmas/acuerdos/acuerdo-finalingles.pdf. [Retrieved: 2020.01.18]
- República de Colombia. Ley 1957 (2019)"Ley Estatutaria de la Administración de Justicia en la Jurisdicción Especial para la Paz. Available: <u>https://www.funcionpublica.gov.co/eva/gestornormativo/norma.php?i=94590</u> [Retrieved: 2020.05.01]
- Oficina Presidencial para la Estabilización y Consolidación (December 17, 2018).

 Peace
 with
 Legality.
 Available:

 <u>http://www.posconflicto.gov.co/Documents/Peace-with-legality-Policy-</u>

 2019.pdf [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- Gobierno de Colombia, Oficina par la Estabilización y la Consolidación (2019). Política de Seguridad y Defensa. Available: <u>https://www.mindefensa.gov.co/irj/go/km/docs/Mindefensa/Documentos/desc</u> <u>argas/Prensa/Documentos/politica_defensa_deguridad2019.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.03.19]

Iván Duque Márquez

- [Duque, 2014] Duque Márquez, Iván (February 6, 2014). "Cuando dicen que no podemos humillar a las FARC enviando sus jefes a la cárcel, me pregunto porque humillamos la justicia con impunidad. Available: https://twitter.com/IvanDuque/status/431257966470500352?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- [Duque, 2015] Duque Márquez, Iván (May 30, 2015) Más que acuerdos dignos para las FARC,queremos una paz digna para los Colombianos.Por eso defendemos

paz con imperio de la Ley sin impunidad. Twitter. Available: https://twitter.com/IvanDuque/status/604699090941825024?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]

- [Duque, 2015a] Duque Márquez, Iván (October 1, 2015). Justicia transicional o justicia transaccional. Periódico Portafolio. Available: <u>https://www.portafolio.co/opinion/ivan-duque-marquez/justicia-transicional-justicia-transaccional-34520</u> [Retrieved: 2020.03.08]
- [Duque, 2017] Duque Márquez, Iván (October 25, 2017). "Las plagas de un mal acuerdo". Portafolio. Available: <u>https://www.portafolio.co/opinion/ivan-duque-marquez/las-plagas-de-un-mal-acuerdo-511007</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- [Duque, 2017a] Duque Márquez, Iván (November 1, 2017). "El partido político Farc, que tiene las siglas de la organización terrorista que desangró a Colombia, desafía al país y a la legalidad." Twitter. Available: https://twitter.com/ivanduque/status/925855240154419200
- [Duque, 2017b] Duque Márquez, Iván (November 24, 2017). "Debemos tener toda la firmeza contra el terrorismo. Estamos defendiendo los intereses de esa mayoría de colombianos honestos que merecen una paz sin impunidad". Twitter. Available:
 <u>https://twitter.com/IvanDuque/status/934052057220354048?s=20</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- [Duque, 2018] Duque Márquez, Iván (22, March 2018). A conversation with Iván Duque Márquez. Conversation in public event hosted by "Inter-American Dialogue". Available: <u>https://www.thedialogue.org/events/a-conversationwith-ivan-duque-marquez/</u> [Retrieved: 2020.01.19]
- [Duque, 2018a] Duque Márquez, Iván (March 22, 2018). El peor error que se ha cometido en Colombia en los últimos ocho años fue haber dividido al país entre amigos y enemigos de la paz. Todos queremos la paz, pero una paz sin impunidad, que sea el triunfo del Estado de Derecho sobre la criminalidad

@The_Dialogue #WashingtonDC. Twitter. Available:
<u>https://twitter.com/IvanDuque/status/976926965293899781?s=20</u> [Retrieved 2020.02.20]

- [Duque, 2018b] Duque Márquez, Iván (April 5, 2018)"Yo sé qué hay heridas y debemos superarlas. No se trata de imponer voluntades, se trata de entender que no podemos juzgar a los criminales según su ideología, queremos una paz sin impunidad y una justicia donde el que la haga la pague". Twitter. Available: https://twitter.com/IvanDuque/status/1218325224137072640?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- [Duque, 2018c] Duque Márquez Iván, (June 15, 2018). Iván Duque Marquez' Victory Speech After the Presidential Election. Presidencia de la República de Colombia. Available: <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tSAiY2knc-c</u> [Retrieved: 2020.01.20]
- [Duque, 2018d] Duque Márquez, Iván (7 August, 2018). El Pacto por Colombia / Discurso de Posesión del Presidente de la República, Iván Duque Márquez. Available: https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2018/El-Pacto-por-COLOMBIA-Discurso-de-Posesion-del-Presidente-de-la-Republica-Ivan-Duque-Marquez.aspx [Retrieved: 2020.01.20]
- [Duque, 2018e] Duque Márquez Iván, (August 16, 2018). Declaración del Presidente Iván Duque al término de la reunión con mandos a nivel nacional 'Enfoque para la política pública para la seguridad y convivencia ciudadana'. Presidencia de la República de Colombia. Available: <u>https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2018/180816-Declaracion-Presidente-Ivan-Duque-reunion-nivel-nacional-Enfoque-politica-publica-Seguridad-Convivencia-Ciudadana.aspx</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.28]
- Duque, 2018f] Duque Márquez, Iván (September 12, 2018). Palabras del Presidente Iván Duque en el XXIV Encuentro de la Jurisdicción de lo Contencioso Administrativo. Available: https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2018/180912-Palabras-del-

Presidente-Ivan-Duque-en-el-XXIV-Encuentro-de-la-Jurisdiccion-de-lo-Contencioso-Administrativo.aspx [Retrieved: 2020.01.20]

- [Duque, 2018g] Duque Márquez Iván, (September 24, 2018). Palabras del Presidente Iván Duque Márquez en la Cumbre de Paz Nelson Mandela. Presidencia de la República de Colombia. Available: <u>https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2018/180924-Palabras-del-Presidente-Ivan-Duque-Marquez-en-la-Cumbre-de-Paz-Nelson-Mandela.aspx</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.28]
- [Duque, 2018h] Duque Márquez Iván, (September 24, 2018). Declaración del Presidente Iván Duque al término de su primer día de participación en el Foro de París sobre la Paz. Presidencia de la República de Colombia. Available: https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2018/181111-Declaracion-del-Presidente-Ivan-Duque-al-termino-de-su-primer-dia-de-participacion-en-el-Foro-de-Paris-sobre-la-Paz.aspx [Retrieved: 2020.02.28]

[Duque, 2018g] Duque Márque, Iván (December 17, 2018) Palabras del Presidente Iván Duque en la ceremonia de reconocimiento del Director General de la Policía Nacional. Available: <u>https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2018/181217-Palabras-del-Presidente-Ivan-Duque-en-la-ceremonia-de-reconocimiento-del-Director-General-de-la-Policia-Nacional.aspx [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]</u>

- [Duque, 2019] Presidency (6 February, 2019). "Abecé de la Política de Defensa y Seguridad para la Legalidad, el Emprendimiento y la Equidad". Presidencia Colombia. Available: https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2019/190206-Abece-de-la-Politica-de-Defensa-y-Seguridad-para-la-Legalidad-el-Emprendimiento-y-la-Equidad.aspx20 [Retrieved: 2020.04.21]
- [Duque, 2019a] Duque Márquez, Iván (March 10, 2019). "Abecé / Decisión de objeciones sobre la Ley Estatutaria de la Justicia Especial para la Paz (JEP)".
 Available: https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Paginas/prensa/2019/190310-Abece-

Decision-de-objeciones-sobre-la-Ley-Estatutaria-de-la-Justicia-Especial-parala-Paz-JEP.aspx [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]

- [Duque, 2019b] Duque Márquez, Iván (29 August, 2019). "A los colombianos quiero reiterarles que continuaremos garantizando la Legalidad, la Seguridad y la Justicia en todo el territorio nacional. Nuestras Fuerzas Armadas cuentan con todas las capacidades operacionales y policiales para perseguir sin tregua a esta banda criminal". Presidencia Colombia. Available: https://twitter.com/infopresidencia/status/1167150424287318017?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.04.21]
- [Duque, 2019c] Duque, Iván (2019). Introducción a la Política de Seguridad y Defensa. Ministerio de Defensa, República de Colombia. Available: <u>https://www.mindefensa.gov.co/irj/go/km/docs/Mindefensa/Documentos/desc</u> <u>argas/Prensa/Documentos/politica_defensa_deguridad2019.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.04.19]
- [Duque, 2020] Duque Márquez, Iván (January 18, 2020). "#Bogotá Colombia quiere construir la paz, una #PazConLegalidad, sin impunidad, creíble y sólida. Esa paz empieza porque crímenes como el de la Escuela General Santander, cometido por el Eln, no queden en la impunidad. #NoLosOlvidamos". Twitter. Available: <u>https://twitter.com/IvanDuque/status/1218325224137072640?s=20</u>
 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]

- Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (April 9, 2013). "Nuestra oposición al proceso de paz, no es a la paz sino a la impunidad". Caracol Noticias. Available: <u>https://www.elespectador.com/noticias/politica/video-414833-uribe-explicarazones-cuales-se-opone-al-proceso-de-paz</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (February 23, 2014). "Pte Santos no solamente iguala a las FFAA con el terrorismo sino que les impone su sumisión a la impunidad de Farc". Twitter. Available:

Álvaro Uribe Vélez

https://twitter.com/AlvaroUribeVel/status/437595983468560384?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]

[Uribe, 2014a] Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (December 10, 2014). "Por qué nos extraña que Farc pidan que no les digan terroristas,si en efecto el Gobierno ya lo cumplió y los llama como actores políticos." Available: https://twitter.com/AlvaroUribeVel/status/542651801493712897?s=20 [Retrieved, 2020.02.20]

Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (January 29, 2015). "Comando General de FFAA ordena no mencionar la palabra Farc cuando terroristas de esta organización cometen crímenes". Available: <u>https://twitter.com/AlvaroUribeVel/status/575453099575279617?s=20</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.26]

- Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (December 27, 2015) "El Plebiscito no es la paz, preocupante futuro si para dar impunidad a criminales Farc los igualan con civiles, militares y policías". Twitter. Available: https://twitter.com/AlvaroUribeVel/status/681102043491217408?s=20
 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (July14, 2016) Para cabecillas Farc responsables de masacres, carros bomba, no hay cárcel, basta reconocer aun sin arrepentimiento: No es esto impunidad?. Twitter. Available: https://twitter.com/AlvaroUribeVel/status/753577629081567233?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.02.20]
- Uribe Vélez, Álvaro (January 21, 2019). "Penas por terrorismo en el mundo: Rusia:
 Pena Capital; China: Pena Capital; USA: Cadena Perpetua o Pena Capital;
 Inglaterra: Cadena Perpetua; Alemania: Cadena Perpetua; Colombia: Indulto,
 escaño en el congreso, posibilidad de ser presidente de por vida". Twitter.
 Available:

https://twitter.com/AlvaroUribeVel/status/1087410361853202432?s=20 [Retrieved: 2020.04.20]

Guillermo Botero

Botero, Guillermo (2019). Introducción a la Política de Seguridad y Defensa. Ministerio de Defensa, República de Colombia. Available: <u>https://www.mindefensa.gov.co/irj/go/km/docs/Mindefensa/Documentos/desc</u> <u>argas/Prensa/Documentos/politica_defensa_deguridad2019.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.04.19]

Reference List

- Acosta, Gloria Lucía (2006). La noción de participación en el proyecto político de la seguridad democrática en Colombia–una aproximación desde el análisis crítico del discurso–. Anagramas Rumbos y Sentidos de la Comunicación, 4(8), 15-39.
- Acosta García, Mónica (2018). Law and Globalization: the "multi-sited" uses of Transitional Justice by Indigenous Peoples in Colombia (2005-2016). Oñati Socio-Legal Series [online], 8 (5), 760-787. Available from: / Disponible en: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=3269132</u>
- Alviar García, Helena & Karen Engle (2016). The Distributive Politics of Impunity and Anti- Impunity: Lessons from Four Decades of Colombian Peace Negotiations. From: Karen Engle, Zinaida Miller And D.M. Davis (2016).
 "Anti- Impunity and the Human Rights Agenda". Cambridge University Press. DOI: 10.1017/9781139942263
- Caicedo Atehortúa, Juan Manuel (2016). "¿Ésta es la paz de Santos?": el partido Centro Democrático y su construcción de significados alrededor de las negociaciones de paz. Revista CS, 15-37.
- Banakar, Reza (March 13, 2009). Law Through Sociology's Looking Glass: Conflict and Competition in Sociological Studies of Law; The New ISA Handbook in Contemporary International Sociology: Conflict, Competition, And Cooperation, Ann Denis, Devorah Kalekin-Fishman, eds., Sage, 2009. Retrieved from: at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1327025

- Bell, Christine (2008). Transitional Justice, Interdisciplinarity and the State of the 'Field' or 'Non-Field'. International Journal of Transitional Justice 3(1): 5–27.
- Boraine, Alex (2006). *Transitional Justice: A holistic interpretation*. Journal of International Affairs 60(1): 17–27.
- Bourdieu, Pierre (1991). Language and symbolic power. Harvard University Press.
- Camacho, Adriana; Mejia, Daniel, (2017). *The health consequences of aerial spraying illicit crops: The case of Colombia.* Journal of Health Economics 54 (2017) 147–160.
- [CERAC] Centro de Recursos para el Análisis de Conflictos (2014). La guerrilla de las Farc contaría con 15.700 hombres. Available: <u>https://www.cerac.org.co/assets/pdf/Media/La%20guerrilla%20de%20las%20</u> <u>Farc%20contar%C3%ADa%20con%2015.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.03.22]
- [CNMH] Centro Nacional de Memoria Histórica (2013). ¡Basta Ya! Colombia: Memorias de Guerra y Dignidad. Informe General Grupo de Memoria Histórica. ISBN: 978-958-57608-4-4
- Chouliaraki, L., Fairclough, & N. (1999). *Discourse in late modernity: Rethinking critical discourse analysis*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.
- Comisión Histórica del Conflicto y sus Víctimas (2015). Contribución al entendimiento del conflicto armado en Colombia. Indepaz. Available: <u>http://www.indepaz.org.co/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Version-final-</u> <u>informes-CHCV.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.01]
- Congreso de la República de Colombia (April 4, 2017). *Acto Legislativo 1 de 2017*. Available:http://www.secretariasenado.gov.co/senado/basedoc/acto_legislativ o_01_2017.html#Inicio [Retrieved: 2020.01.19]
- Congreso de la República de Colombia (2019). Seguimiento inter-partidista a la implementación del Acuerdo de Paz. Available: <u>http://www.tlaxcalaint.org/upload/telechargements/311.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.19].

- Cubides Cárdenas, Jaime (2018). *La implementación del Acuerdo de Paz y la Seguridad en Colombia en el posconflicto*. Utopía y Praxis Latinoamericana, 23(2), 178-193. Available: <u>https://www.redalyc.org/jatsRepo/279/27957770013/html/index.html</u> [Retrieved: 2020.02.19].
- De Greiff, Pablo (2010) *Transitional justice, security, and development security and justice.* Thematic paper 62061, 29 October. The World Bank. Available at: ttp://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/937211468151160151/Transitional -justice-security-and-development-securityand-justice-thematic-paper [Retrieved: 2020.02.19].
- Defensoría del Pueblo (February 19, 2020). Defensor del Pueblo y Michelle Bachelet ratifican compromisos para trabajo conjunto por los derechos humanos.Available:
 https://www.defensoria.gov.co/es/nube/noticias/9161/Defensor-del-Pueblo-y-Michelle-Bachelet-ratifican-compromisos-para-trabajo-conjunto-por-losderechos-humanos-Ginebra-Suiza-Bachelet-Defensor-GANHRI.htm [Retrieved 2020.02.25]
- Elster, Jon. Closing the books: *Transitional justice in historical perspective*. Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- El Tiempo (21 August, 2019). *Presupuesto para Defensa aumentará 6,3% para el 2020*. Available: https://www.eltiempo.com/politica/gobierno/presupuesto-para-defensa-aumentara-6-3-para-el-2020-403298 [Retrieved: 2020.04.30]
- Fairclough, Norman (2014). *Language and Power*. 3rd Edition. London: Routledge. ISBN: 9781138790964 (hb), pp. 264.
- Fairclough, Norman (2019). CDA as Dialectical Reasoning: Critique, Explanation and Action. Policromias, Ano IV, December 2019, pp. 13-31. Available: <u>https://revistas.ufrj.br/index.php/policromias/article/viewFile/29968/18004</u> [Recovered: 2020.02.21]

- Galindo Hernández, C. (2005). De la Seguridad Nacional a la Seguridad Democrática: nuevos problemas, viejos esquemas. Estudios Socio-Jurídicos, 7, 496.
- Gómez, Gabriel Ignacio. (2017). Entre el castigo y la reconciliación. Análisis sociojurídico del proceso de paz y la negociación del Acuerdo sobre las Víctimas del Conflicto. Estudios Políticos (Universidad de Antioquia), 50, pp. 236-256. DOI:10.17533/udea.espo.n50a13
- Gready, Paul; Robins, Simon (2017). Rethinking civil society and transitional justice: lessons from social movements and 'new' civil society, The International Journal of Human Rights, 21:7, 956-975, DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2017.1313237
- Gutiérrez Sanín, Francisco; Barón, Mauricio (2008). Órdenes subsidiarios. Coca, esmeraldas, la Guerra y la Paz. Colombia. Internacional, núm. 67, enero-junio, 2008, pp. 102-129. Universidad de Los Andes. Bogotá, D.C., Colombia.
- [HRW] Human Rights Watch (2015). Análisis de Human Rights Watch sobre el "Acuerdo sobre las Víctimas del Conflicto" alcanzado por el gobierno de Colombia y las FARC. Available: https://www.hrw.org/es/news/2015/12/21/analisis-de-human-rights-watchsobre-el-acuerdo-sobre-las-victimas-del-conflicto [Retrieved: 2020.04.01]
- Jackson, Patrick (2010). The Conduct of Inquiry in International Relations: Philosophy of Science and Its Implications for the Study of World Politics. New York: Routledge.
- McEvoy, Kieran. (2007). Beyond legalism: Towards thicker understanding of transitional justice. Journal of Law and Society, 34(4), 411-440.
- Mesa, Manuela (2010). Violencia transnacional en Centroamérica: retos y desafíos. Anuario CEIPAZ, ISSN 2174-3665, Nº. 3, 2009-2010, pp. 247-264.
- Moreno Torres, Aurora (2012). Seguridad democrática y militarización en Colombia: más allá del conflicto armado. URVIO: Revista Latinoamericana de Estudios de Seguridad, (12), 41-56. Available: <u>https://www.redalyc.org/pdf/5526/552656545004.pdf</u> [Retrieved: 2020.03.10]

- Muñoz García, Claudia Yaneth. (2013). Reflexiones sobre justicia transicional en Colombia: tensiones entre la justicia y la paz. JURÍDICAS. No. 2, Vol. 10, pp. 61-86. Manizales: Universidad de Caldas.
- Lemaitre Ripoll, J., & Restrepo Saldarriaga, E. (2019). *Law and Violence in the Colombian Post-Conflict: State-Making in the Wake of the Peace Agreement.* Revista de Estudios Sociales, (67), 2-16.
- Nagy, Rosemary (2008). *Transitional Justice as Global Project: critical reflections*. Third World Quarterly Vol. 29, No. 2, 2008, pp 275 289
- Navarrete Guzmán, Tatiana (2018). *Transitional justice in Colombia competing discourses in a peace agreement context*. Thesis for the title of Master of arts in Development Studies, International Institute of Social Studies (ISS), the Hague.
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala & Campbell, Colm (2005) *The Paradox of Transition in Conflicted Democracies*. Human Rights Quarterly 27(1): 172–213.
- Ní Aoláin, Fionnuala (2013). Justice in Times of Transition: A Reflection on Transitional Justice, 29 Const. Comment. 81 (2013), available at <u>https://scholarship.law.umn.edu/faculty_articles/70</u>
- [NDP] República de Colombia (2018). *Plan Nacional de Desarrollo (2018-2022)*,"Pacto por Colombia, Pacto por la Equidad", Ley 1955 del 25 de Mayo de 2019.
- Paris Peace Forum (2020). *About*. Paris Peace Forum. Available: <u>https://parispeaceforum.org/about/</u>
- Prada Espinel, Óscar Andrés; Romero Rodríguez, Luis Miguel (2018). Polarización y demonización en la campaña presidencial de Colombia de 2018: análisis del comportamiento comunicacional en el Twitter de Gustavo Petro e Iván Duque. Revista de la Escuela de Estudios Generales, Universidad de Costa Rica. Enero-julio, 2019, Volumen 9, número 1, pp. 1-26.

Prior, Lindsay (2011) Using Documents in Social Research. London: Sage.

- Presidencia de la República de Colombia (2019). *La verdad sobre las objeciones a la Ley Estatutaria de la JEP*. Available: <u>https://id.presidencia.gov.co/Documents/190310_Verdad-Objeciones.pdf</u> [Retrieved 2020.02.28]
- Revista Semana (October 3, 2019). Duque objeta la norma central de la JEP y estos son los 8 escenarios a los que se enfrenta. Available: <u>https://www.semana.com/nacion/articulo/duque-objeta-la-ley-de-la-jep-8-</u> <u>efectos-que-podrian-ser-contraproducentes/604938</u> [Retrieved 2020.02.10]
- Robins, Simon (2012). Transitional Justice as an Elite Discourse, Human Rights Practice, Where the Global Meets the Local in Post-conflict Nepal. Routledge, Critical Asian Studies 44:1 (2012), 3–30. ISSN 1467-2715 print/1472-6033 online / 01 / 000003–28 ©2012 BCAS, Inc. DOI:10.1080/14672715.2012.644885
- Rowen, Jamie Rebecca (2017). "We Don't Believe in Transitional Justice: Peace and the Politics of Legal Ideas in Colombia." Law & Social Inquiry Volume 42, Issue 3, 622–647, Summer 2017.
- Sánchez Mendoza, Vanessa; Lara Gutiérrez, Juan Manuel; Rodríguez, Ana Carolina; Santamaría Uribe, Laura Sofía; Carranza, Jenny Lorena (2017). Análisis del discurso en torno a los diálogos de paz. Universidad Católica de Colombia, Bogotá.
- The Swedish Research Council Website (2018). Good Research Conduct. Available: <u>https://publikationer.vr.se/en/product/good-research-practice/</u> [Retrieved: 2020.05.10]
- Tonche, Juliana; Umaña, Camilo Eduardo (2017). Integral System of Truth, Reparations, Justice and Non-repetition: Agreement of restorative justice?
 Revista Derecho del Estado n.º 38, enero-junio de 2017, pp. 223-241

- Turner, Catherine Violence (2015). Law and the (Im)possibility of Transitional Justice. Thesis to obtain her Doctorate in Philosophy. Submitted: 18 November 2015. Queen's University Belfast.
- Uprimny, R., and Saffon, P., 2007. Uses and Abuses of TJ discourse in Colombia.
 Policy Brief [online], n° 6/2007. Available from: https://www.prio.org/utility/DownloadFile.ashx?id=158&type=publicationfil e [Accessed 28 November 2014].
- Unidad de Atención y Reparación Integral para las Víctimas (2020). Registro Único de Víctimas. Available: <u>https://www.unidadvictimas.gov.co/es/registro-unico-de-victimas-ruv/37394</u> [Retrieved 2020.02.22]
- United Nations (2004). Report of the Secretary General on the Rule of Law and Transitional Justice in Conflict and Post Conflict Societies' (UN Doc S/2004/616, United Nations 2004).
- United Nations (2010). *Guidance Note of the Secretary General. United Nations Approach to Transitional Justice.* Available at: https://www.un.org/ruleoflaw/files/TJ_Guidance_Note_March_2010FINAL.p df (Retrieved: 2020.02.26).
- Uprimny R, Duque LMS & León NCS (2014) Justicia Para La Paz: Crímenes Atroces, Derecho a La Justicia y Paz Negociada. Centro de Estudios de Derecho, Justicia y Sociedad, Dejusticia.
- Valencia Agudelo, Germán Darío (2019). La Paz y la JEP en el Plan Nacional de Desarrollo (2018-2022). Revista Debates, No. 81; Universidad de Antioquia. Medellín.
- Van Dijk, Teun A. (1996). 'Discourse, Power and Access'. In: C.R. Caldas-Coulthard and M. Coulthard (eds.) Texts and Practices: Readings in Critical Discourse Analysis, pp. 84–104. London: Routledge.
- Van Dijk, Teun A. (1993) *Principles of critical discourse analysis*. Discourse and Society, vol. 4, pp. 249-283
- Vargas, Alejo (2009). La politica pública de seguridad y defensa en Colombia: Seguridad Democrática, conflicto armado y su regionalización. In: Deubel,

Andre Noel Roth Et al.. Políticas públicas en sistemas críticos: el caso latinoamericano. Medellín, Universidad Nacional 2009.

- Vélez Uribe, Juan Carlos (4 October, 2018). *El No ha sido la campaña más barata y más efectiva de la historia*. Available: <u>https://www.asuntoslegales.com.co/actualidad/el-no-ha-sido-la-campana-</u> <u>mas-barata-y-mas-efectiva-de-la-historia-2427891</u> [Retrieved: 2020.01.23]
- Veum, Aslaug, & Undrum, Linda Victoria Moland (2018). The selfie as a global discourse. Discourse & Society, 29(1), 86-103.
- Wallenfeldt, Jeff (2019). Iván Duque Márquez, President of Colombia.
 Encyclopedia Britanica. Available on: https://www.britannica.com/biography/Ivan-Duque [Retrieved: 2020.01.20]
- Wenzel, M., Okimoto, T. G., Feather, N. T., & Platow, M. J. (2008). *Retributive and restorative justice*. Law and Human Behavior, 32(5), 375–389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10979-007-9116-6
- Whitham, Ben (2012). Critical Realism and International Relations: Causal Explanations for Liberal War. International BISA-ISA Conference, Edinburgh.